Notes on Domain Theory (Marktoberdorf 2001)

Viggo Stoltenberg-Hansen* Department of Mathematics, Uppsala University, Box 480, S-751 06 Uppsala, Sweden

Contents

1	Introduction	2								
2	Basic theory	2								
	2.1 Approximation structures and domains	2								
	2.2 Scott topology	7								
	2.3 Continuous and algebraic domains	10								
	2.3.1 Continuous cpos	10								
	2.3.2 The function space	13								
3	Domain representability	16								
	3.1 Basic definitions	17								
	3.2 Ultrametric algebras	21								
	3.3 Standard algebraic representations	28								
	3.4 Type structures	32								
4	Effective domains	35								
5	Effective domain representations									
	5.1 Effective topological algebras	44								
	5.2 Locally compact Hausdorff spaces	47								
	5.3 Metric spaces	51								
6	Bifinite domains									
	6.1 Basic definitions	55								
	6.2 Effective bifinite domains	58								
7	Power domains	60								

*email: viggo@math.uu.se

8 Representation of non-continuous functions

References

1 Introduction

Domain theory is by now a rather large mathematical theory with applications in many areas such as denotational semantics, type theory and recursive mathematics. For a short course on the mathematical theory of domains it is therefore necessary to be selective and to choose a particular perspective. We have chosen to see domain theory as a theory of approximation and a theory of computability via approximations and have selected our topics accordingly.

In Section 2 we develop the basic theory of algebraic and continuous domains. By analysing a notion of approximation we arrive naturally at the axioms for domains. In Section 3 we develop the theory of domain representability. We show how a large class of structures can be given natural representations using domains. Together with an effective theory of domains this provides a uniform method to study computability on such structures, which is the topic of Section 5. The general theory of effective domains is described in Section 4. In Section 6 we discuss bifinite domains and show that the category of effective bifinite domains is cartesian closed. The various power domain constructions are briefly considered in Section 7. In the final Section 8 we barely touch on the problem of representing relations and non-continuous functions using domains.

I want to thank Göran Hamrin for his comments on initial drafts of these notes.

2 Basic theory

2.1 Approximation structures and domains

We take as our starting point the following problem. Suppose we want to compute on a possibly uncountable structure such as the field of real numbers \mathbb{R} . The elements of \mathbb{R} are in general truly infinite objects (Cauchy sequences or Dedekind cuts) with no finite description. However, real omputations, that is computations that can in principle be performed by a digital computer or Turing machine must operate on 'concrete' objects. By an element being concrete we mean (at least) that it is finitely describable or, equivalently, coded by a natural number. In particular, the structure on which the computations are performed must be countable. Therefore it is not possible to compute directly on \mathbb{R} , we can at best compute on concrete approximations of elements in \mathbb{R} . If the approximations are such that each

64 67 real number is a limit of its approximations then we can extend a computation to \mathbb{R} by interpreting a computation on a real number as the 'limit' of the computations on its approximations, where such a limit exists. This is the technique used in recursive analysis, see e.g. Pour-El and Richards [35].

Is there a general method or a general class of structures which captures computations via approximations as in the example of the reals \mathbb{R} ? We shall show that a simple analysis of the notion of approximation leads naturally to the class of structures called *algebraic domains* which has the generalisation, also natural from the approximation point of view, to *continuous domains*.

Let us consider the problem of approximation abstractly. Suppose that X is a set (or more generally a structure). To say that a set P is an approximation for X should mean that elements of P are approximations for elements of X. That is, there is a relation \prec , the *approximation relation*, from P to X with the intended meaning for $p \in P$ and $x \in X$,

$$p \prec x \iff$$
 "p approximates x".

We illustrate this with a few relevant examples.

Example 2.1. Let $P = \{[a, b]: a \leq b, a, b \in \mathbb{Q}\}$ and $X = \mathbb{R}$. Define

$$[a,b] \prec x \Longleftrightarrow x \in [a,b].$$

Note that P consists of concrete elements in the sense that an interval [a, b] is finitely describable from finite descriptions of the rational numbers a and b and the symbols "[", "]" and ",".

Example 2.2. Let X be a topological space with a topological base \mathcal{B} . For $B \in \mathcal{B}$ and $x \in X$ define

$$B \prec x \Longleftrightarrow x \in B.$$

For second countable spaces the set of approximations \mathcal{B} can be chosen (by definition!) to be countable.

Example 2.3. Let $P = \mathbb{Q}$ and $X = \mathbb{R}$. For $a \in \mathbb{Q}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}$ define

$$a \prec x \Longleftrightarrow a < x$$

where < is the usual order on \mathbb{R} .

Note that Example 2.1 provides a better approximation of \mathbb{R} than Example 2.3 in that $[a, b] \prec x$ gives (roughly) more information than $a \prec x$.

Let P and X be sets and let \prec be a relation from P to X. Then \prec induces a relation \sqsubseteq on P, called the *refinement* (*pre-*)*order* obtained from or induced by \prec , in a natural way: for $p, q \in P$ let

$$p \sqsubseteq q \iff (\forall x \in X)(q \prec x \Longrightarrow p \prec x).$$

Thus $p \sqsubseteq q$ expresses that q is a better approximation than p, or q refines p, in the sense that q approximates fewer elements in X than does p. Note that the induced refinement order indeed is a *preorder*, i.e. it is reflexive and transitive.

We now put some reasonable requirements on P and \prec in order to obtain an *approximation structure* for X. We require that

- each element $x \in X$ is uniquely determined by its approximations, and
- each element $x \in X$ is the 'limit' of its approximations.

In addition it is useful to require P to have a trivial approximation, i.e., an approximation which approximates all elements of X (and hence contains no information about elements of X). This leads us to

Definition 2.4. Let P and X be sets, \prec a relation from P to X and \sqsubseteq the refinement preorder obtained from \prec . Then $(P; \sqsubseteq)$ is an *approximation structure* for X w.r.t. \prec if

- (i) $(\forall x, y \in X)(\{p \in P : p \prec x\} = \{p \in P : p \prec y\} \iff x = y);$
- (ii) $p \prec x$ and $q \prec x \Longrightarrow (\exists r \prec x)(p \sqsubseteq r \text{ and } q \sqsubseteq r);$
- (iii) $(\exists p \in P) (\forall x \in X) (p \prec x).$

Examples 2.1 and 2.3 are approximation structures when we add a trivial approximation. Example 2.2 gives an approximation structure precisely when the space X is T_0 . In this sense (i) in Definition 2.4 is a T_0 property.

Let $(P; \sqsubseteq)$ be an approximation structure for X w.r.t. \prec . Then each $x \in X$ is uniquely identified with the set $\{p \in P: p \prec x\}$. Note that if $p \sqsubseteq q \prec x$ then $p \prec x$. Together with (ii) and (iii) in Definition 2.4 we see that $\{p \in P: p \prec x\}$ is an *ideal* over $(P; \sqsubseteq)$.

For a preorder $P = (P; \sqsubseteq)$, a set $A \subseteq P$ is said to be *directed* if A is non-empty and if $p, q \in A$ then there is an $r \in A$ such that $p, q \sqsubseteq r$, i.e., every finite subset of A has an upper bound in A. A subset $I \subseteq P$ is an *ideal* over P if I is directed and downwards closed. We often use the notation $\downarrow p = \{q \in P : q \sqsubseteq p\}$ and $\uparrow p = \{q \in P : p \sqsubseteq q\}$. Note that $\downarrow p$ is an ideal, the *principal ideal* generated by p. We denote by $Idl(P; \sqsubseteq)$, or just Idl(P), the set of all ideals over $(P; \sqsubseteq)$.

Thus given an approximation structure $(P; \sqsubseteq)$ of X w.r.t. \prec we obtain an injection of X into $\mathrm{Idl}(P)$, i.e. X "lives" in $\mathrm{Idl}(P)$. (However, this may not be the best injection, as we shall see later.) In addition $\mathrm{Idl}(P)$ contains the approximation structure P that we started with by means of the principal ideals $\downarrow p$. So $\mathrm{Idl}(P)$ contains both the original space and its approximations. $\operatorname{Idl}(P)$ is naturally ordered by inclusion \subseteq . For if ideals $I \subseteq J$ then J contains more approximations and hence more information about the elements approximated than does I. We therefore consider $\operatorname{Idl}(P)$ as a structure ordered by inclusion.

Definition 2.5. Let $P = (P; \sqsubseteq)$ be a preorder. The *ideal completion* of P is the structure $\overline{P} = (\mathrm{Idl}(P); \subseteq)$.

We also denote the set Idl(P) by \overline{P} . Here are the relevant properties of the ideal completion.

Theorem 2.6. Let $P = (P; \sqsubseteq)$ be a preorder and let $\overline{P} = (\overline{P}; \subseteq)$ be the ideal completion of P ordered by inclusion.

- (i) \subseteq is a partial order.
- (ii) If F ⊆ P is a directed family of ideals then UF is an ideal and UF = supremum of F w.r.t. ⊆.
- (iii) If $p \in P$, $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \overline{P}$ is directed and $\downarrow p \subseteq \bigcup \mathcal{F}$ then there is $I \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $\downarrow p \subseteq I$.
- (iv) Let $I \in \overline{P}$. Suppose for each directed $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \overline{P}$ such that $I \subseteq \bigcup \mathcal{F}$ there is $J \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $I \subseteq J$. Then $I = \downarrow p$ for some $p \in P$.
- (v) Let $I \in \overline{P}$. Then the set $\{\downarrow p : \downarrow p \subseteq I\} \subseteq \overline{P}$ is directed and $I = \bigcup \{\downarrow p : \downarrow p \subseteq I\}$.

Proof. Straightforward. (For (iv) let $\mathcal{F} = \{ \downarrow p : p \in I \}$.)

The interesting point for us is that the theorem, with notions motivated from simple considerations about approximations, gives the axioms for an *algebraic cpo* simply by replacing $(\bar{P}; \subseteq)$ by a partial order $(D; \sqsubseteq)$.

Note that if P contains a 'least' element \perp as in an approximation structure then $\downarrow \perp$ is least in \overline{P} . It is often convenient to have a least element, e.g., for the existence of fixed points and for the function space construction.

Definition 2.7.

- (i) Let D = (D; ⊑, ⊥) be a partially ordered set with least element ⊥. Then D is a complete partial order (abbreviated cpo) if whenever A ⊆ D is directed then ∐A (the least upper bound or supremum of A) exists in D.
- (ii) Let D be a cpo. An element $a \in D$ is said to be *compact* or *finite* if whenever $A \subseteq D$ is a directed set and $a \sqsubseteq \bigsqcup A$ then there is $x \in A$ such that $a \sqsubseteq x$. The set of compact elements in D is denoted by D_c .

(iii) A cpo D is an algebraic cpo if for each $x \in D$, the set

$$\operatorname{approx}(x) = \{a \in D_c : a \sqsubseteq x\}$$

is directed and $x = \bigsqcup \operatorname{approx}(\mathbf{x})$.

With this terminology, Theorem 2.6 states that $\overline{P} = (\overline{P}; \subseteq, \downarrow \bot)$ is an algebraic cpo.

Here is a representation theorem for algebraic cpos. For its simple proof see Stoltenberg-Hansen et al. [39].

Theorem 2.8. Let $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ be an algebraic cpo and let $\overline{D_c}$ be the ideal completion of $D_c = (D_c; \sqsubseteq)$. Then $D \simeq \overline{D_c}$.

Note that if D is an algebraic cpo then $(D_c; \sqsubseteq)$ is an approximation structure for D w.r.t. \prec , where for $a \in D_c$ and $x \in D$,

$$a \prec x \Longleftrightarrow a \sqsubseteq x.$$

We have shown that algebraic cpos are precisely ideal completions of approximation structures.

It is well-known that the class of algebraic cpos is not closed under the function space construction. The usual added requirement is the following.

Definition 2.9. Let D be a cpo. Then D is said to be *consistently complete* if whenever $x, y \in D$ are consistent in D (i.e. have a common upper bound) then their supremum $x \sqcup y$ exists in D.

A consistently complete algebraic cpo will be called an *algebraic domain*. Other terms in the literature are Scott domain or Scott-Ershov domain after the originators of our theory.

For an approximation structure $P = (P; \sqsubseteq)$ we often want the ideal completion \overline{P} to be an algebraic domain. It is an easy exercise to see that a necessary and sufficient condition (when \sqsubseteq is a partial order) is that P is a *conditional upper semilattice* or *cusl*, i.e., if $p, q \in P$ are consistent in Pthen $p \sqcup q$ exists in P. The approximation structures in Examples 2.1 and 2.3 are cusls and the topological base \mathcal{B} in Example 2.2 can be chosen such that it is a cusl.

Assume P is an approximation structure for X via \prec . Then we obtain an induced approximation from X to X by

$$x \le y \iff (\forall p \in P)(p \prec x \Longrightarrow p \prec y).$$

Clearly, $(X; \leq)$ is an approximation structure for X w.r.t. \leq .

In Example 2.1 the induced relation \leq is discrete, i.e., \leq is =. The induced relation in Example 2.2 is known as the *specialisation order*. It is discrete if, and only if, X is a T₁ space. The induced relation in Example 2.3 coincides with the usual ordering on \mathbb{R} and hence is far from discrete.

In applications we are mainly interested in approximations P of X such that the induced relation \leq on X is discrete. The reason is the following. Suppose $I \in \overline{P}$ determines or represents a unique element $x \in X$ and suppose $J \supseteq I$. Then J contains as much information as I and hence should also represent or determine x. That is, it is desirable that the representations in \overline{P} are upwards closed.

Define a function rep: $\overline{P} \to \wp(X)$ by

$$\operatorname{rep}(I) = \{ x \in X \colon (\forall p \in I) (p \prec x) \}.$$

We say that $I \in \overline{P}$ is *convergent* if $\operatorname{rep}(I)$ is a singleton and then we denote $\operatorname{rep}(I) = \{x\}$ by $I \to x$. Let $\overline{P}^R = \{I \in \overline{P} : I \text{ convergent}\}$ and define $\nu: \overline{P}^R \to X$ by

$$\nu(I) = x \Longleftrightarrow I \to x.$$

If the representation is upwards closed then ν is a surjection.

It is not necessarily the case that each $x \in X$ has a *unique* representation in \overline{P}^R . In Example 2.1 each irrational has a unique representation while each rational has exactly four representations. (Can you describe all these representations?)

From an approximation P for X we have constructed an algebraic cpo (often an algebraic domain) \overline{P} which includes both the approximations for elements of X and also (representations of) the elements of X. Now we can use the general theory of domains to study the structure X via the mapping ν , including

- fixed point theorems (generalises Banach's fixed point theorem, used for example in studying iterated function systems, see Edalat [11, 12] and Blanck [6]);
- ability to build higher type objects (e.g. streams and stream transformers, see [7]);
- computability, inherited from the computability of *P*.

Our claim is that the use of domains (of various kinds) provides a general, uniform and useful way to study computability via approximations on a large class of structures. It is a hope that the use of domain representability will help to give insights into ways of doing feasable exact or secure computations on certain topological algebras such as \mathbb{R} . For some interesting work in this direction see Potts [34].

2.2 Scott topology

There is a natural topology on cpos given by Scott.

Definition 2.10. Let $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ be a cpo. Then $F \subseteq D$ is *closed* if

- (i) whenever $A \subseteq F$ is directed then $\bigsqcup A \in F$; and
- (ii) if $x \in F$ and $y \sqsubseteq x$ then $y \in F$.

A directed set should be thought of as a generalised sequence. In a cpo all such "sequences" converge. Thus condition (i) has a clear motivation.

Examples of closed sets are $\downarrow x = \{y \in D : y \sqsubseteq x\}$. In fact, the topological closure $\overline{\{x\}}$ of $\{x\}$ is $\downarrow x$.

Open sets are complements of closed sets. Thus $U \subseteq D$ is open if

- (i) whenever $A \subseteq D$ is directed and $||A \in U$ then $A \cap U \neq \emptyset$; and
- (ii) if $x \in U$ and $x \sqsubseteq y$ then $y \in U$.

Part (ii) has been motivated as follows (see Smyth [38]). The ordering \sqsubseteq on D is considered as an information ordering, i.e., y contains more information than x if $x \sqsubseteq y$. Open sets are thought of as "observable properties". If x has enough information for the property U to hold, i.e., $x \in U$, and $x \sqsubseteq y$ then y also contains enough information for the property U to hold. Thus we assume information to be consistent, and hence to satisfy a property is definite when the information is sufficient.

Remark 2.11. If D is an algebraic cpo then the family $\{\uparrow a: a \in D_c\}$ is a topological base for the Scott topology.

Exercise 2.12. Let (X, τ) be a topological space. The specialisation order \leq on X is defined by

$$x \le y \Longleftrightarrow \forall U^{open} (x \in U \Longrightarrow y \in U).$$

Show that for a cpo $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ equipped with the Scott topology the order \sqsubseteq is the specialisation order. Conclude that D is a T₀ space and that D is a T₁ space only if $D = \{\bot\}$.

The Scott topology is the correct one for the natural order theoretic version of continuity.

Proposition 2.13. Let D and E be cpos. Then a function $f: D \to E$ is continuous with respect to the Scott topology if, and only if, f is monotone and for each directed set $A \subseteq D$,

$$f(\bigsqcup A) = \bigsqcup f[A].$$

The proof is a straightforward exercise.

Consider the unit interval [0, 1]. It is a cpo under the usual ordering \leq . However, the Scott topology is radically different from the usual Euclidean topology on [0, 1]. For example, the step function $f: [0, 1] \to [0, 1]$ defined by

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } 0 \le x \le \frac{1}{2} \\ 1 & \text{if } \frac{1}{2} < x \le 1 \end{cases}$$

is Scott continuous but not continuous with respect to the usual topology. A non-monotone function is not Scott continuous.

For cpos D and E we define the function space $[D \to E]$ of D and E by

$$[D \to E] = \{f: D \to E \mid f \text{ continuous}\}.$$

We order $[D \to E]$ by

$$f\sqsubseteq g \Longleftrightarrow (\forall x\in D)(f(x)\sqsubseteq g(x)).$$

It is easy to see that $[D \to E]$ is a cpo where for a directed set $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [D \to E]$ and $x \in D$,

$$(\bigsqcup \mathcal{F})(x) = \bigsqcup \{ f(x) \colon f \in \mathcal{F} \}.$$

We form a category \mathbf{CPO}_{\perp} whose objects are cpos and whose morphisms are continuous functions between cpos. It is well-known and easy to prove that \mathbf{CPO}_{\perp} is a cartesian closed category, where the product of cpos D and E is given by

$$D \times E = \{(x, y) \colon x \in D, y \in E\}$$

and ordered by

$$(x,y) \sqsubseteq (z,w) \iff x \sqsubseteq_D z \text{ and } y \sqsubseteq_E w.$$

The exponent of D and E is the function space $[D \to E]$. In particular this means that the corresponding projection functions for the product are continuous. Furthermore eval: $[D \to E] \times D \to E$ defined by

$$eval(f, x) = f(x)$$

is continuous and curry: $[D \times E \to F] \to [D \to [E \to F]]$ defined by

$$\operatorname{curry}(f)(x)(y) = f(x, y)$$

is continuous.

Finally we have the existence of least fixed points.

Proposition 2.14. Let $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ be a cpo.

- (i) For each $f \in [D \to D]$ there is a least $x \in D$ such that f(x) = x, i.e., f has a least fixed point.
- (ii) The function fix $: [D \to D] \to D$ defined by

fix(f) = least fixed point of f

is continuous.

Proof. The least fixed point of f is $\bigsqcup_n f^n(\bot)$ where

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{rcl} f^0(\bot) &=& \bot \\ f^{n+1}(\bot) &=& f(f^n(\bot)). \end{array} \right.$$

We leave the continuity of fix as an exercise.

2.3 Continuous and algebraic domains

We will briefly discuss continuous domains, which is a broader class of structures than algebraic domains. It turns out that for the purpose of using domains to study computability on topological algebras it suffices, and is in our view sometimes preferable, to consider the simpler structures of algebraic domains. However, when dealing with topological algebras which can only have weak computability properties then continuous domains may seem more natural.

2.3.1 Continuous cpos

In this section we discuss the appropriate approximation relation on cpos. Then we isolate those cpos which are well-behaved with respect to this approximation relation. These are the continuous cpos.

Definition 2.15. Let $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ be a cpo. Then for $x, y \in D$ we say x is *way below* y, denoted $x \ll y$, if for each directed set $A \subseteq D$,

$$y \sqsubseteq \bigsqcup A \Longrightarrow (\exists z \in A) (x \sqsubseteq z).$$

The way below relation is sometimes called the approximation relation.

Note that $x \in D$ is compact if, and only if, $x \ll x$. Of course, $\perp \ll x$ always holds.

Exercise 2.16. Show that the way below relation on an algebraic cpo D is characterised by

$$x \ll y \iff (\exists a \in D_c)(x \sqsubseteq a \sqsubseteq y).$$

Lemma 2.17. Let $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ be a cpo and $x, y, z, w \in D$. Then the following hold.

- (i) $x \ll y \implies x \sqsubseteq y$.
- (ii) $z \sqsubseteq x \ll y \sqsubseteq w \implies z \ll w$.

In particular we see that \ll is transitive and antisymmetric. But it need not be reflexive.

Example 2.18. Let $\mathbb{CI} = ([0,1]; \leq, 0)$ where \leq is the usual order. Then

$$x \ll y \iff x < y.$$

Example 2.19. Let $\mathbb{CIR} = \{[x, y] : x, y \in \mathbb{R}, x \leq y\} \cup \{\mathbb{R}\}$ ordered by reverse inclusion. Then

$$[x, y] \ll [z, w] \Longleftrightarrow x < z \le w < y,$$

i.e., $[z, w] \subseteq (x, y)$, the interior of [x, y].

Exercise 2.20. Determine the compact elements in the above examples.

Definition 2.21. A cpo $D = (D; \subseteq, \bot)$ is *continuous* if for each $x \in D$,

- (i) the set $\{y \in D : y \ll x\}$ is directed (w.r.t. \sqsubseteq); and
- (ii) $x = | | \{ y \in D : y \ll x \}.$

Useful notation for sets determined by the way below relation are, for x an element of a cpo D,

$$\downarrow x = \{ y \in D : y \ll x \} \quad \text{and} \quad \uparrow x = \{ y \in D : x \ll y \}.$$

As observed above, the way below relation \ll is not necessarily reflexive. However, for continuous cpos it satisfies the following crucial *interpolation* property.

Lemma 2.22. Let D be a continuous cpo. Let $M \subseteq D$ be a finite set and suppose $M \ll y$, i.e., $(\forall z \in M)(z \ll y)$. Then there is $x \in D$ such that $M \ll x \ll y$.

Proof. (Sketch) Suppose $M \ll y$. Let $A = \{x \in D: \exists x'(x \ll x' \ll y)\}$. Using the continuity of D one shows that A is directed and $\bigsqcup A = y$. Say $M = \{z_1, \ldots, z_n\}$. Then we know from the above that there are $a_i \in A$ such that $z_i \sqsubseteq a_i$ and hence there is $a \in A$ such that $M \sqsubseteq a$. But then, by the definition of A, there is x such that $M \ll x \ll y$.

It follows that if D is a continuous cpo then $\frac{1}{2}y = \{x \in D : x \ll y\}$ is directed with respect to \ll for each $y \in D$.

For an algebraic cpo D we have seen that all the information is contained in the behaviour of the compact elements D_c of D. We say that D_c is a *base* for D. This is essential when using domains in order to study computability. We now introduce the analogous notion for continuous cpos.

Definition 2.23. Let $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ be a cpo. A subset $B \subseteq D$ is a *base* for D if for each $x \in D$,

$$\operatorname{approx}_B(x) = \{ y \in B \colon y \ll x \}$$

is directed and $\bigsqcup \operatorname{approx}_B(x) = x$.

Actually it suffices to require that for each $x \in D$ there is a directed subset $A \subseteq \operatorname{approx}_B(x)$ such that $x = \bigsqcup A$. Note that if B is a base for a cpo D then $D_c \subseteq B$.

If D is a continuous cpo then trivially D is a base for D. As already mentioned, D_c is a base for an algebraic cpo D. In Example 2.18, $[0, 1] \cap \mathbb{Q}$ is a base and in Example 2.19, the intervals [a, b] with $a, b \in \mathbb{Q}$ (along with bottom) make up a base.

The following proposition is an easy exercise.

Proposition 2.24. A cpo is continuous if, and only if, it has a base.

Exercise 2.25. Show that a cpo D is algebraic if, and only if, D_c is a base for D. Also show that a continuous cpo D has a least base if, and only if, D is algebraic.

Just as for an algebraic cpo the behaviour of a continuous cpo is determined by a base. For example, the interpolation property (Lemma 2.22) is such that the witness always can be chosen from a base of D.

Theorem 2.26. Let D be a cpo with a base B. Then a topological base for the Scott topology on D is given by the family $\{\uparrow x : x \in B\}$.

Proof. First we note that $\uparrow x$ is open for any $x \in D$. It is clearly upwards closed. Suppose $x \ll \bigsqcup A$ where A is directed. Then, by interpolation, there is y such that $x \ll y \ll \bigsqcup A$. Hence there is $a \in A$ such that $y \sqsubseteq a$, so $x \ll a$.

Suppose $w \in \uparrow x \cap \uparrow y$, i.e., $x, y \ll w$. By interpolation we choose $b \in B$ such that $x, y \ll b \ll w$. Thus $w \in \uparrow b \subseteq \uparrow x \cap \uparrow y$. Similarly one shows that for each open $U \subseteq D$,

$$U = \bigcup_{x \in U \cap B} \uparrow x.$$

The continuous functions between continuous cpos are characterised by their behaviour on bases of the cpos. The following Proposition will often be tacitly used. We leave its easy proof as an exercise.

Proposition 2.27. Let D and E be continuous cpos with bases B_D and B_E respectively.

 (i) A function f: D → E is continuous if, and only if, f is monotone and for each x ∈ D,

$$(\forall b \in \operatorname{approx}_{B_E}(f(x)))(\exists a \in \operatorname{approx}_{B_D}(x))(b \ll f(a)).$$

16		

(ii) For each monotone function $f: B_D \to E$ There is a largest continuous function $\bar{f}: D \to E$ given by

$$\bar{f}(x) = \bigsqcup\{f(a) \colon a \in \operatorname{approx}_{B_D}(x)\}$$

such that for each $a \in B_D$, $\overline{f}(a) \sqsubseteq f(a)$.

Recall that if D and E are algebraic then the way below relation \ll in the above proposition is just \sqsubseteq .

We conclude this section by providing a connection between algebraic cpos and continuous cpos. Of course, every algebraic cpo is continuous.

Let D and E be cpos. Then a pair of functions $e: D \to E$ and $p: E \to D$ is a *projection pair* from D to E if they are continuous and

$$p \circ e = \mathrm{id}_D$$
 and $e \circ p \sqsubseteq \mathrm{id}_E$

where id is the identity function.

Let D be a continuous cpo with a base B and let $E = \text{Idl}(B; \sqsubseteq)$, the ideal completion of the partial order $(B; \sqsubseteq)$. It follows by Theorem 2.6 that E is an algebraic cpo. Define $e: D \to E$ and $p: E \to D$ by

$$e(x) = \operatorname{approx}_B(x) = \{y \in B : y \ll x\}$$
 and $p(I) = ||_D I.$

Proposition 2.28. The pair (e, p) is a projection pair from D to E.

The proof is straightforward, noting that the continuity of e depends on the interpolation property.

2.3.2 The function space

In this section we discuss the function space construction for *continuous* domains and algebraic domains, i.e., continuous and algebraic cpos which are consistently complete.

It is well-known that the categories of continuous cpos and algebraic cpos are not cartesian closed. The categories of continuous domains and algebraic domains *are* cartesian closed and these are the ones most often considered in semantics. However, there are important larger cartesian closed subcategories of the continuous and algebraic cpos. The category of bifinite domains is particularly important. The latter category is essential in connection with the Plotkin power domain construction. Bifinite domains (or a continuous analogue) are also important from the point of view of domain representability. For example, they are used to study the computability of iterated function systems (see Blanck [6] and Edalat [11, 12]). Bifinite domains and different power domain constructions will be discussed in Sections 6 and 7. To know the structure of a base for the function space, rather than just its existence, is essential in order to determine the effectivity of the function space.

In what follows we will describe the construction for continuous domains. This includes the construction for algebraic domains, where the cusl of compact elements plays the role of a base, recalling the characterisation of the way below relation for the algebraic case.

Given cpos D and E with bases B_D and B_E we want to construct a base for the function space $[D \rightarrow E]$. It turns out that such a base, under appropriate conditions, can be taken as finite suprema of step functions determined from B_D and B_E . Here is the definition of a step function.

Definition 2.29. Let $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ and $E = (E; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ be cpos. For $a \in D$ and $b \in E$ define $\langle a; b \rangle: D \to E$ by

$$\langle a; b \rangle(x) = \begin{cases} b & \text{if } a \ll x \\ \bot & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Note that each step function $\langle a; b \rangle$ is continuous since $\uparrow a$ is open for each $a \in D$.

Proposition 2.30. Let D and E be cpos and let $a \in D$ and $b \in E$.

(i) Suppose $f: D \to E$ is continuous. Then

$$b \ll f(a) \Longrightarrow \langle a; b \rangle \ll f.$$

(ii) If D and E are continuous cpos with bases B_D and B_E and $f: D \to E$ is continuous then

$$f = \bigsqcup \{ \langle a; b \rangle : a \in B_D, \quad b \in B_E, \ \langle a; b \rangle \ll f \}.$$

Proof.

- (i) Suppose $f \sqsubseteq \bigsqcup \mathcal{F}$ where $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [D \to E]$ is directed and $b \ll f(a)$. Then $f(a) \sqsubseteq \bigsqcup \{g(a) : g \in \mathcal{F}\}$ and hence $b \sqsubseteq g(a)$ for some $g \in \mathcal{F}$, i.e., $\langle a; b \rangle \sqsubseteq g$.
- (ii) Suppose $\{\langle a; b \rangle : a \in B_D, b \in B_E, \langle a; b \rangle \ll f\}$ has g as an upper bound and let $x \in D$. Then $x = \bigsqcup \{a \in B_D : a \ll x\}$ and hence $f(x) = \bigsqcup \{f(a) : a \ll x\}$. For $b \ll f(x)$ we obtain (by interpolation) $a \ll x$ such that $b \ll f(a)$ and hence, by (i), $\langle a; b \rangle \ll f$. Thus $\langle a; b \rangle \sqsubseteq g$. In particular, $b = \langle a; b \rangle(x) \sqsubseteq g(x)$ so $f(x) \sqsubseteq g(x)$.

It is clearly not the case that the set in (ii) is directed in general. In order to obtain a directed set we expand it by including suprema of finite subsets of step functions way below f. Consistent completeness of E suffices to obtain such suprema. (In Section 6 we consider a weaker sufficient condition.)

The following characterisation is important when considering the effectivity of the functions space construction.

Proposition 2.31. Let D be a continuous cpo, E a consistently complete cpo, and let $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in D$ and $b_1, \ldots, b_n \in E$. Then

$$\{\langle a_1; b_1 \rangle, \dots, \langle a_n; b_n \rangle\}$$
 is consistent in $[D \to E]$

if, and only if,

$$\forall I \subseteq \{1, \dots, n\} (\bigcap_{i \in I} \uparrow a_i \neq \emptyset \Longrightarrow \{b_i : i \in I\} \quad consistent).$$

Proof. For the non-trivial direction define $h: D \to E$ by

$$h(x) = \bigsqcup \{ b_i : a_i \ll x \}.$$

Then h is well-defined by consistent completeness and h is monotone. Suppose $A \subseteq D$ is directed and $a_i \ll \bigsqcup A$. By the continuity of D there is $d_i \in A$ such that $a_i \ll d_i$ and hence $b_i \sqsubseteq h(d_i)$. Thus

$$h(\bigsqcup A) = \bigsqcup \{b_i : a_i \ll \bigsqcup A\} \sqsubseteq \bigsqcup h[A].$$

I		

Note that if $\{\langle a_1; b_1 \rangle, \ldots, \langle a_n; b_n \rangle\}$ is consistent then the function h in the proof $is \bigsqcup_{i=1}^n \langle a_i; b_i \rangle$.

Exercise 2.32. Let D be a continuous cpo. Show that if $a, b \ll x$ and $a \sqcup b$ exists then $a \sqcup b \ll x$. Also show that if a base B_D of D is consistently complete then D is consistently complete.

Using Proposition 2.30 (ii) it is now straightforward to prove that the categories of continuous domains and algebraic domains are cartesian closed.

Theorem 2.33. Let D and E be continuous cpos with bases B_D and B_E . If E is consistently complete then $[D \to E]$ is continuous and consistently complete, i.e., a continuous domain. A base for $[D \to E]$ is

$$B_{[D\to E]} = \{\bigsqcup_{i=1}^{n} \langle a_i; b_i \rangle : a_i \in B_D, \ b_i \in B_E, \ \{\langle a_1; b_1 \rangle, \dots, \langle a_n; b_n \rangle\} \text{ consistent}\}.$$

For algebraic domains we let the bases be cusls of compact elements D_c and E_c . For $a \in D_c$ and $b \in E_c$ the step function $\langle a; b \rangle$ is compact. It follows that $B_{[D \to E]}$ is a base for $[D \to E]$ consisting only of compact elements. This shows that $[D \to E]$ is an algebraic domain.

In conclusion we emphasise again that a continuous or algebraic domain is completely determined by a base (and hence by the compact elements in the algebraic case). In addition, a continuous function from a domain into a cpo is completely determined by its values on a base.

3 Domain representability

In this section we describe how large classes of topological algebras can be given natural domain representations which later will be shown to satisfactorily model concrete computations on the algebras. To a topological algebra A is associated a domain (of some kind) D_A from which a subset D_A^R is selected to make a representation of A via a surjective quotient map $\nu: D_A^R \to A$. Also the operations on A must be tracked by continuous operations on D, i.e., D must be a Σ -domain when representing a topological Σ -algebra.

The notion of effective domain representability for topological algebras was, as far as we know, first made explicit in Stoltenberg-Hansen and Tucker [40] where it was used to study the effective content of the completion of a computable Noetherian local ring. It was further extended to ultrametric spaces and locally compact regular spaces in [41, 42, 43] and to metric spaces in the thesis [3].

However, it was clear from the beginning of the development of domain theory that domain theory is a theory of approximation and computation, and that computability often implies continuity. This was exploited in [15] where Ershov gave a domain representation of the Kleene-Kreisel continuous functionals. An effective and adequate domain model of Martin-Löf partial type theory is given in Palmgren and Stoltenberg-Hansen [32] which has been extended in Waagbø [45] to provide a domain representation of Martin-Löf total type theory (see also Berger [9] and Normann [30]). Also related to domain representability is Weihrauch and Schreiber [46] where embeddings of metric spaces into complete partial orders equipped with weight and distance is considered.

The work on domain representability referred to above use algebraic domains. Related work on domain representability using continuous (most often non-algebraic) domains has been pursued by Edalat and his group; for a survey of their work see Edalat [13].

3.1 Basic definitions

Let X and Y be topological spaces. A function $\nu: X \to Y$ is a quotient mapping if $U \subseteq Y$ is open if, and only if, $\nu^{-1}[U]$ is open in X. In case ν is surjective we then have that X/\sim and Y are homeomorphic spaces when the former is given the quotient topology and where \sim is the equivalence relation induced on X by ν , i.e., $x \sim y \iff \nu(x) = \nu(y)$.

The concepts below are valid both for continuous domains and algebraic domains. Therefore in this section we simply use the term *domain* to mean continuous domain or, if the reader so desires, algebraic domain. For D a domain we use the notation B_D for a base of D. In case D is algebraic the reader should read D_c for B_D , recalling that D_c is a base of D if, and only if, D is algebraic.

Definition 3.1. Let X be a topological space, let D be a domain and D^R a subset of D. Then (D, D^R, ν) is a *domain representation* of X in case $\nu: D^R \to X$ is a surjective quotient map when D^R is given the (relativised) Scott topology.

In the discussion in Section 2.1 we created a domain representation via an approximation structure for a set X. In that case the projection ν induced a topology on X from the Scott topology of the domain. In the present situation we are given a topology on X. Thus the domain representation must be such that the induced topology from the Scott topology of the representing domain coincides with the given topology. In the examples already given the approximation structure for the topological space X was chosen to respect the topology on X. It is interesting, at least initially, that all topological spaces have a domain representation and hence a topology induced by the Scott topology via a quotient map.

As already remarked, a domain representation (D, D^R, ν) of X contains both concrete and proper approximations of elements of X, the elements in a base B_D , and "total" elements in D^R containing sufficient information to represent elements of X exactly via ν . Since the function ν in the definition above is a quotient map we have

$$D^R/\sim \cong X.$$

Here are some useful and natural properties desirable for domain representations.

Definition 3.2. A domain representation (D, D^R, ν) of a space X is

- (i) upwards closed if whenever $x \in D^R$ and $x \sqsubseteq y$ then $y \in D^R$ and $\nu(x) = \nu(y)$;
- (ii) dense if for each $a \in B_D$, $\uparrow a \cap D^R \neq \emptyset$;

(iii) local if $(\forall x, y \in D^R)(\nu(x) = \nu(y) \implies x \text{ and } y \text{ are consistent}).$

Upwards closed domain representations (D, D^R, ν) are natural when regarding the ordering \sqsubseteq on D as an information ordering. If $x \in D^R$ completely determines $\nu(x) \in X$ and $x \sqsubseteq y$ then y contains all the information of x and hence also completely determines $\nu(x)$. Note that if the represented space X is T_1 then the condition $\nu(x) = \nu(y)$ is redundant.

We also distinguish between domain representations by putting requirements on the quotient map ν . For a thorough study of various kinds of domain representations we refer to Blanck [5]. Here we will just consider the following.

Definition 3.3. Let (D, D^R, ν) be a domain representation on X.

- (i) (D, D^R, ν) is a retract representation of X if ν is a retract, i.e., if there is a continuous function $e: X \to D$ such that $\nu \circ e = \operatorname{id}_X$.
- (ii) (D, D^R, ν) is an open representation of X if ν is an open mapping.
- (iii) (D, D^R, ν) is a homeomorphic representation of X if ν is a homeomorphism.

Domain representations are uniformly closed under most of the usual constructions, such as retracts, quotients, disjoint sums and direct limits. However, perhaps surprisingly, domain representations are not uniformly closed under products. That is, if (D, D^R, ν) and (E, E^R, μ) are domain representations of X and Y respectively, then $\nu \times \mu: D^R \times E^R \to X \times Y$ need not be a quotient map (see [5]). Retract representations are uniformly closed under (arbitrary) products.

The next step is to represent continuous functions between topological spaces.

Definition 3.4. Let (D, D^R, ν) and (E, E^R, μ) be domain representations of X and Y respectively. A function $f: X \to Y$ is represented by (or lifts to) a continuous function $\bar{f}: D \to E$ if $\bar{f}[D^R] \subseteq E^R$ and $\mu(\bar{f}(x)) = f(\nu(x))$, for all $x \in D^R$.

Let (D, D^R, ν) and (E, E^R, μ) be domain representations of X and Y respectively. Suppose $\overline{f}: D \to E$ is such that $\overline{f}[D^R] \subseteq E^R$ and such that $\nu(x) = \nu(y) \implies \mu(\overline{f}(x)) = \mu(\overline{f}(y))$. Then \overline{f} induces a unique function $f: X \to Y$ defined by $f(\nu(x)) = \mu(\overline{f}(x))$. In the terminology above, f is represented by \overline{f} .

Observe that if (D, D^R, ν) is local and upwards closed and (E, E^R, μ) is upwards closed then every continuous function $\overline{f}: D \to E$ such that $\overline{f}[D^R] \subseteq E^R$ induces a unique function $f: X \to Y$.

Proposition 3.5. If $f: X \to Y$ is represented by a continuous $\overline{f}: D \to E$ then f is continuous.

The proof is simple and depends on the fact that ν is assumed to be a quotient (only continuity of μ is required). It is a topological result and has nothing to do with the special case of domains.

Thus every continuous function $\bar{f}: D \to E$, such that $\bar{f}[D^R] \subseteq E^R$ and $\nu(x) = \nu(y) \Longrightarrow \mu(\bar{f}(x)) = \mu(\bar{f}(y))$ for $x, y \in D^R$, trivially induces a *continuous* function $f: X \to Y$. The problematic part is the converse.

Question: When does a continuous function $f: X \to Y$ have a lifting $\overline{f}: D \to E$?

Let (D, D^R, ν) be a domain representation of a space X. Then ν induces a relation \equiv on D by

$$x \equiv y \Longleftrightarrow \nu(x) = \nu(y).$$

The relation \equiv is symmetric and transitive on D, i.e., \equiv is a partial equivalence relation (abbreviated per) on D with field D^R .

Let D be a domain and \equiv a per on D. We say the pair (D, \equiv) is a domain with per. Given a domain with per (D, \equiv) we extract the set

$$D = \{x \in D : x \equiv x\} = \text{Field}(\equiv).$$

Then the pair (D, \overline{D}) is a *domain with totality*. We now take the quotient \overline{D}/\equiv of \overline{D} with \equiv , defined by

$$\bar{D}/\equiv = \{[x]: x \in \bar{D}\}$$

where $[x] = \{y \in \overline{D} : x \equiv y\}$ is the equivalence class of x, and give it the quotient topology. The latter is defined by

$$U \subseteq \bar{D} / \equiv$$
 open $\iff \bigcup U \subseteq \bar{D}$ open

where \overline{D} has the subspace topology from the Scott topology on D. Define $\nu: \overline{D} \to \overline{D} / \equiv$ by

$$\nu(x) = [x].$$

Then ν is a quotient map, so (D, \overline{D}, ν) is a domain representation of \overline{D} / \equiv .

Now let (D, D^R, ν) and (E, E^R, μ) be domain representations of X and Y respectively and let \equiv_D and \equiv_E be the induced pers. Suppose $f: X \to Y$ is represented by $\overline{f}: D \to E$. Then it is immediate from Definitions 3.1 and 3.4 that for each $x, y \in D$,

$$x \equiv_D y \Longrightarrow f(x) \equiv_E f(y). \tag{1}$$

If $\bar{g}: D \to E$ is another lifting of f then

$$(\forall x, y \in D)(x \equiv_D y \Longrightarrow \bar{f}(x) \equiv_E \bar{g}(y)). \tag{2}$$

Conversely, if $\overline{f}: D \to E$ is a continuous function satisfying (1) then \overline{f} is the lifting of a continuous function $f: X \to Y$ by Proposition 3.5.

We have shown that an equivalent alternative to domain representability is the use of domains with pers.

Let (D, \equiv_D) and (E, \equiv_E) be domains with pers. Then, guided by (2), we define a relation \sim on $[D \rightarrow E]$ by

$$f \sim g \iff (\forall x, y \in D)(x \equiv_D y \Longrightarrow f(x) \equiv_E g(y)). \tag{3}$$

It is immediate that \sim is a per on $[D \rightarrow E]$.

The domains with pers make up a category **PER(Dom)** in the following way. Let **Dom** be a category of domains (continuous or algebraic) with continuous functions as morphisms. An object in **PER(Dom)** is a domain with a per (D, \equiv_D) . A morphism from (D, \equiv_D) to (E, \equiv_E) is obtained as follows. Let ~ be the per on $[D \to E]$ defined by (3). For $f \in [D \to E]$ such that $f \sim f$ let [f] be the equivalence class of f w.r.t. ~. Then we say that $[f]: (D, \equiv_D) \to (E, \equiv_E)$ is a morphism. Furthermore, the operation on morphisms is defined by $[f] \circ [g] = [f \circ g]$ and $id_{(D,\equiv_D)} = [id_D]$. It is an easy exercise to show, using the equivalence given by (3), that

Proposition 3.6. PER(Dom) is a cartesian closed category.

This means that we can build type structures in a natural way over a domain representable space X. We return to this topic in Section 3.4.

We have defined what is meant by a topological space being domain representable and by a continuous function to be representable. We now extend this in the natural way to topological algebras.

Let Σ be a (finite) signature. Recall that a topological Σ -algebra A is a structure $A = (A; \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k)$ where A is a topological space and the operations $\sigma_i: A^{n_i} \to A$ are continuous. The signature Σ gives k and the arity of each σ_i . (A constant is regarded as a 0-ary operation.)

Definition 3.7. A structure $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot; \psi_1, \ldots, \psi_k)$ is a structured domain or Σ -domain for a signature Σ if

- (i) $(D; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ is a domain, and
- (ii) each ψ_j is a continuous n_j -ary operation on D, that is $\psi_j : D^{n_j} \to D$ is continuous, where D^{n_j} is given the product topology, and k and the arities n_j are given by Σ .

By D_A being a Σ -substructure of a Σ -domain D we mean that D_A is a substructure of D with respect to the operations named by Σ .

Definition 3.8. A topological Σ -algebra $A = (A; \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k)$ is domain representable by a Σ -domain $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot; \hat{\sigma}_1, \ldots, \hat{\sigma}_k)$ if there is a Σ substructure $D_A = (D_A; \hat{\sigma}_1, \ldots, \hat{\sigma}_k)$ of D and a Σ -epimorphism

$$\nu_A: D_A \to A$$

which is a quotient map with respect to the subspace topology of D_A . The triple (D, D_A, ν_A) is a *domain representation* of A.

We say that a topological Σ -algebra A is *domain representable* if A is representable by some Σ -domain D.

3.2 Ultrametric algebras

In this section we consider domain representations of ultrametric algebras. It is a known fact that both domains and (ultra-)metric spaces behave well and in similar ways when used in denotational semantics, despite the fact that domains and metric spaces have drastically different topological properties. A perhaps naive explanation for this is that (ultra-)metric spaces have natural domain representations. In particular, by Proposition 3.21 we see that the Banach fixed point construction over a complete ultrametric space is precisely the least fixed point construction over the representing domain. This is also the case for a complete metric space.

We will show how to represent completions of ultrametric algebras or, more generally, certain inverse limits of algebras by *algebraic* domains. A domain representation (D, D^R, ν) of the complete ultrametric space X will be such that $D^R = D_m$, the set of maximal elements of D, and $\nu: D^R \to X$ is a homeomorphism. This illustrates how the ideal completion corresponds to the ultrametric completion.

We consider certain inverse limits obtained from a family of separating congruences on an algebra A. Let $A = (A; \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k)$ be a Σ -algebra. A binary relation \equiv on A is said to be a congruence relation on A if it is an equivalence relation and if for each operation σ in A, say *n*-ary, if $x_i \equiv y_i$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$, then $\sigma(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \equiv \sigma(y_1, \ldots, y_n)$.

Definition 3.9. Let $A = (A; \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k)$ be a Σ -algebra and let $I = (I; \leq, 0)$ be a directed set with least element 0. Then $\{\equiv_i\}_{i \in I}$ is a *family of separating congruences* on A if

- (i) each \equiv_i is a congruence relation on A,
- (ii) $j \ge i$ and $x \equiv_j y \Longrightarrow x \equiv_i y$, and
- (iii) $\bigcap_{i \in I} \equiv_i = \{(x, x) : x \in A\}.$

For convenience we always assume $x \equiv_0 y$ for each $x, y \in A$. Of course, $\omega = (\omega; \leq, 0)$ is a directed set with least element, where we identify the set of natural numbers \mathbb{N} with the ordinal ω . Furthermore, in order to obtain a consistently complete domain representation, one should assume that the index set I is closed under finite suprema and that the family of separating congruences $\{\equiv_i\}_{i\in I}$ on A is upward consistent, i.e.,

$$a \equiv_i b \& a \equiv_j b \Longrightarrow (\exists k \ge i, j) (a \equiv_k b).$$

This trivially holds for $I = \omega$.

Example 3.10. (i) On the natural numbers \mathbb{N} , let \equiv_n be the equivalence relation corresponding to the partition

$$\{0\}, \{1\}, \{2\}, \dots, \{n-1\}, \{n, n+1, n+2, \dots\}.$$

Note that \equiv_n is a congruence for addition and multiplication (and any monotone operation).

- (ii) Let $T(\Sigma, X)$ be the term algebra over a signature Σ and a set of variables X. Then, for $t, t' \in T(\Sigma, X)$ let $t \equiv_n t'$ if t and t' are identical up to height n 1, for $n \in \omega$.
- (iii) Let R be a local commutative ring whose unique maximal ideal is **m**. Define for $x, y \in R$ and $n \in \omega, x \equiv_n y \Leftrightarrow x - y \in \mathbf{m}^n$. Then, by Krull's Theorem, $\{\equiv_n\}_{n\in\omega}$ is a family of separating congruences with respect to the ring operations (see Stoltenberg-Hansen and Tucker [40]).
- (iv) Let $2^{\omega} = \{f \mid f : \omega \to \{0,1\}\}$, the Cantor set. For $f,g \in 2^{\omega}, n \in \omega$ define

 $f \equiv_n g \iff (\forall i < n)(f(i) = g(i)).$

Then $\{\equiv_n\}_{n\in\omega}$ is a family of separating congruences on 2^{ω} .

(v) Suppose we are given an algebra A and a family of separating congruences $\{\equiv_i\}_{i\in I}$ on A. Let J be a non-empty possibly infinite set and let $A^J = \{f \mid f: J \to A\}$. We make A^J into a Σ -algebra in the usual way by saying, for $\sigma \in \Sigma$ *n*-ary,

$$\sigma(f_1,\ldots,f_n)(j)=\sigma_A(f_1(j),\ldots,f_n(j)).$$

We define a family of separating congruences on A^{J} as follows. Let

$$I^{(J)} = \{s \mid s : J \to I \text{ and } s(j) = 0 \text{ a.e.} \},\$$

where a.e. means everywhere except on a finite set. We order $I^{(J)}$ by

$$s \le t \Leftrightarrow (\forall j \in J)(s(j) \le t(j)).$$

Clearly $I^{(J)}$ is a directed set with least element the constant zero function. For $a, b \in A^J$ and $s \in I^{(J)}$ define

$$a \equiv_s b \Leftrightarrow (\forall j \in J)(a(j) \equiv_{s(j)} b(j))$$

It is easily shown that the family $\{\equiv_s\}_{s\in I^{(J)}}$ is a family of separating congruences on A^J over $I^{(J)}$.

An algebra A with a family $\{\equiv_i\}_{i\in I}$ of separating congruences has a natural topology with a base given by

$$B(a,i) = \{b \in A : a \equiv_i b\}$$
 for $a \in A$ and $i \in I$.

Proposition 3.11. The algebra A is a topological algebra.

Proof. We must show that each operation in A is continuous. For an n-ary operation σ in A we have

$$\sigma^{-1}(B(a,i)) = \bigcup_{\sigma(x_1,\dots,x_n) \equiv i^a} B(x_1,i) \times \dots \times B(x_n,i).$$

Let (X, d) be a metric space. Then (X, d) is an *ultrametric space*, and d is an *ultrametric*, if d satisfies the following stronger form of the triangle inequality: for $x, y, z \in X$

$$d(x,y) \le \max\{d(x,z), d(z,y)\}.$$

An ultrametric algebra (A, d) has non-expansive operations if each operation σ in A, say n-ary, is non-expansive, i.e., satisfies the following:

$$d(\sigma(x_1,\ldots,x_n),\sigma(y_1,\ldots,y_n)) \le \max\{d(x_i,y_i): 1\le i\le n\}.$$

Given an ultrametric algebra (A, d) we define a family $\{\equiv_n\}_{n \in \omega}$ of separating equivalences on A by

$$x \equiv_n y \Longleftrightarrow d(x, y) \le 2^{-n}$$

If the operation σ is non-expansive then each \equiv_n is a congruence. (The choice of 2^{-n} is not essential. Any strictly decreasing sequence approaching 0 will do.) Thus we see that to an ultrametric algebra A with non-expansive operations we naturally associate a family of separating congruences indexed by ω .

Conversely, suppose A is an algebra and $\{\equiv_n\}_{n\in\omega}$ is a family of separating congruences for A. Then define $d: A \times A \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$d(x,y) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } x = y \\ 2^{-n} & \text{if } x \neq y, \text{ where } n \text{ is least s.t. } x \not\equiv_n y. \end{cases}$$

It easily follows from Definition 3.9 that d is an ultrametric and that each operation is non-expansive with respect to d.

Proposition 3.12. Let (A, d) be an ultrametric algebra with non-expansive operations and let (A, d') be the ultrametric algebra obtained from (A, d) by composing the two operations above. Then $(A, d) \cong (A, d')$ as topological algebras.

To be precise we mean that (A, d) and (A, d') are homeomorphic spaces with a witnessing homeomorphism which is also an isomorphism in the algebraic sense. Of course, we do not claim that (A, d) and (A, d') are isometric.

We now describe the construction of a domain D(A) representing A. Let $A = (A; \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k)$ be a Σ -algebra, let $\{\equiv_i\}_{i \in I}$ be a fixed family of separating congruences on A which is upward consistent, and assume that the index set I is closed under finite suprema. Let $A_i = A/\equiv_i$ be the set of equivalence classes of \equiv_i , and let

$$\mathcal{C} = \{+\} \{A_i : i \in I\},\$$

the disjoint union of the A_i . We denote an element of \mathcal{C} by $[a]_i$, where $a \in A$ and $i \in I$, thus letting the *i* indicate that $[a]_i$ is taken from A_i in the disjoint union. We define a partial order on \mathcal{C} by

$$[a]_i \sqsubseteq [b]_j \iff i \le j \text{ and } a \equiv_i b.$$

We claim that C with this ordering is a cusl. Clearly $[a]_0$ is the least element in C by our standing assumption on \equiv_0 that all elements are \equiv_0 equivalent, where 0 is the least element in I. Now suppose $[a]_i$ and $[b]_j$ are bounded in C by, say, $[c]_k$. Then $i, j \leq k$ and $a \equiv_i c$ and $b \equiv_j c$. Thus $[c]_{i \lor j}$ is an upper bound. To see that $[c]_{i \lor j}$ is the least upper bound let $[d]_m$ be another upper bound. This means that $i, j \leq m$ and $a \equiv_i d$ and $b \equiv_j d$. But then $c \equiv_i d$ and $c \equiv_j d$ and hence, by upward consistency, $c \equiv_{i \lor j} d$. It follows that $[c]_{i \lor j} \leq [d]_m$.

Having shown that \mathcal{C} is a cusl we now define $D(A) = \overline{\mathcal{C}}$, the ideal completion of the cusl \mathcal{C} . Identifying the principal ideals in D(A) with their generating elements in \mathcal{C} we obtain $D(A)_c = \mathcal{C}$.

Note that if $I = \omega$ then D(A) is a tree of height ω , where the maximal elements in the domain correspond to the infinite branches in the tree.

Given a Σ -algebra A with a family of separating congruences $\{\equiv_i\}_{i\in I}$ we form the Σ -algebra

$$A = \lim A / \equiv_i$$

the inverse limit of the A/\equiv_i w.r.t. the homomorphisms $\phi_i^j : A_j \to A_i$ defined by $\phi_i^j([a]_j) = [a]_i$, for $i \leq j$. Without going into details of the inverse limit construction we only remark that $\lim_{\leftarrow} A/\equiv_i$ should be regarded as the *completion* of A.

The inverse limit $A = \lim_{\leftarrow} A/\equiv_i$ has a natural topology obtained from the family of separating congruences $\{\equiv_i\}_{i\in I}$ as follows. Let $\hat{\phi}_i: \hat{A} \to A/\equiv_i$ be the homomorphisms obtained in the inverse limit. Then a base for the topology on \hat{A} is given by

$$\hat{B}(a,i) = \{x \in \hat{A} : \hat{\phi}_i(x) = [a]_i\}$$
 for $a \in A$ and $i \in I$.

This makes \hat{A} into a topological Σ -algebra.

Example 3.13. Referring to Examples 3.10 we have that the completion of \mathbb{N} as in (i) is the one-point compactification, where one element ∞ is added. The completion of $T(\Sigma, X)$ in (ii) is the set $T^{\infty}(\Sigma, X)$ of all finite and infinite terms. The completion of a local ring R as in (iii) is the standard construction of completion for local rings. Finally, the completion of the Cantor space in (iv) gives us the Cantor space back, since the Cantor space already is complete.

Proposition 3.14. Let A be an ultrametric Σ -algebra and let $\{\equiv_n\}_{n\in\omega}$ be a family of separating congruences on A obtained from the metric as above. Let \overline{A} be the metric completion of A. Then \overline{A} is an ultrametric Σ -algebra and

$$\bar{A} \cong \lim A / \equiv_n$$

as topological algebras.

We now consider representations of operations on A.

Definition 3.15. Let A be a Σ -algebra with a family of separating congruences $\{\equiv_i\}_{i\in I}$ which is upward consistent and where the index set I is closed under finite suprema. Let $\lambda : I^n \to I$ be a function which is monotone in each argument. We say that a function $f : A^n \to A$ is λ -congruent if for each $i_1, \ldots, i_n \in I$,

 $a_1 \equiv_{i_1} b_1, \dots, a_n \equiv_{i_n} b_n \Longrightarrow f(a_1, \dots, a_n) \equiv_{\lambda(i_1, \dots, i_n)} f(b_1, \dots, b_n).$

Let $f: A^n \to A$ be λ -congruent. Then define

$$\phi_f^{\lambda}([a_1]_{i_1},\ldots,[a_n]_{i_n}) = [f(a_1,\ldots,a_n)]_{\lambda(i_1,\ldots,i_n)}$$

Lemma 3.16. Let $f : A^n \to A$ be λ -congruent. Then $\phi_f^{\lambda} : D(A)_c^n \to D(A)$ is well-defined and monotone.

Proof. That ϕ_f^{λ} is well-defined follows from the λ -congruence of f. To prove that f is monotone it suffices to prove monotonicity in each argument. So we assume for notational simplicity that f is unary. Suppose $[a]_i \sqsubseteq [b]_j$, that is $i \leq j$ and $a \equiv_i b$. By the λ -congruence of f we have $f(a) \equiv_{\lambda(i)} f(b)$, and by the monotonicity of λ we have $\lambda(i) \leq \lambda(j)$. Thus

$$\phi_f^{\lambda}([a]_i) = [f(a)]_{\lambda(i)} = [f(b)]_{\lambda(i)} \sqsubseteq [f(b)]_{\lambda(j)} = \phi_f^{\lambda}([b]_j).$$

It follows that we can extend ϕ_f^{λ} uniquely to a continuous function ϕ_f^{λ} : $D(A)^n \to D(A)$. This is the *representation* of f with respect to λ on D(A).

The algebras A and \hat{A} are topologically embedded into D(A) as follows. $\Theta: A \to D(A)$ is defined by

$$\Theta(a) = \{ [a]_i : i \in I \}$$

and $\Psi: \hat{A} \to D(A)$ is defined by

$$\Psi(x) = \{ [\hat{\phi}_i(x)]_i : i \in I \}.$$

It is easy to see that these functions are well defined embeddings and in fact homeomorphisms between A and $\Theta[A]$ and \hat{A} and $\Psi[\hat{A}]$, respectively.

Definition 3.17. Let $f : A^n \to A$ be λ -congruent. Then f is continuous with respect to λ if λ is unbounded, that is for each $i \in I$ there is $i_1, \ldots, i_n \in I$ such that $i \leq \lambda(i_1, \ldots, i_n)$.

Lemma 3.18. Let $f : A^n \to A$ be continuous with respect to λ . Then ϕ_f^{λ} is a faithful representation of f, that is for each $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in A$,

$$\Theta(f(a_1,\ldots,a_n)) = \phi_f^{\lambda}(\Theta(a_1),\ldots,\Theta(a_n)).$$

Proof. For notational simplicity we assume that n = 1. Note that for $a \in A$, $\Theta(a) = \bigsqcup \{ [a]_i : i \in I \}$ and $\operatorname{approx}(\Theta(a)) = \{ [a]_i : i \in I \}$. Thus

$$\begin{split} \phi_f^{\lambda}(\Theta(a)) &= \phi_f^{\lambda}(\bigsqcup\{[a]_i : i \in I\}) \\ &= \bigsqcup\{\phi_f^{\lambda}([a]_i) : i \in I\} \\ &= \bigsqcup\{[f(a)]_{\lambda(i)} : i \in I\} \\ &\sqsubseteq \bigsqcup\{[f(a)]_j : j \in I\} \\ &= \Theta(f(a)). \end{split}$$

The converse inequality follows from the continuity condition on λ . For given $j \in I$ choose $i \in I$ such that $\lambda(i) \geq j$. Then

$$\phi_f^{\lambda}(\Theta(a)) \sqsupseteq [f(a)]_{\lambda(i)} \sqsupseteq [f(a)]_j$$

so $\phi_f^{\lambda}(\Theta(a)) \supseteq \Theta(f(a))$.

We have shown that each function $f: A^n \to A$, continuous with respect to λ , extends continuously to the whole domain D(A) by ϕ_f^{λ} . Suppose that the index set I is a lattice. Then, assuming σ_i is an *n*-ary operation in A, we define $\lambda_i: I^n \to I$ by

$$\lambda_i(i_1,\ldots,i_n)=i_1\wedge\ldots\wedge i_n.$$

It follows that σ_i is λ_i -congruent and that λ_i is unbounded. Thus $\phi_{\sigma_i}^{\lambda_i}$ represents σ_i on D(A).

We have arrived at the main theorem of this section. The remaining details to verify are left to the reader.

Theorem 3.19. Let $A = (A; \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k)$ be a Σ -algebra together with a family of separating congruences $\{\equiv_i\}_{i \in I}$ on A which is upward consistent and suppose the index set I is a lattice with a least element. Let $\hat{A} =$

 $\lim_{\leftarrow} A/\equiv_i$ and let $\Theta: A \to D(A)$ and $\Psi: \hat{A} \to D(A)$ be the embeddings defined above. Then A and \hat{A} are representable by the Σ -domain

$$D(A) = (D(A); \sqsubseteq, \bot; \phi_{\sigma_1}^{\lambda_1}, \dots, \phi_{\sigma_k}^{\lambda_k}),$$

where $(D(A), \Psi[\hat{A}], \Psi^{-1})$ is a representation of \hat{A} and $(D(A), \Theta[A], \Theta^{-1})$ is a representation of A.

Using Proposition 3.14 we obtain the corresponding result for ultrametric algebras.

Theorem 3.20. Suppose $A = (A; \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k)$ is an ultrametric Σ -algebra with non-expansive operations and let \overline{A} be the ultrametric completion of A. Then there is a Σ -domain $D(A) = (D(A); \hat{\sigma}_1, \ldots, \hat{\sigma}_k)$ such that

- (i) $D(A)_m$ is a Σ -substructure of D(A);
- (ii) $D(A)_m \cong \overline{A}$ as topological algebras;
- (iii) $(D(A), D(A)_m, \Psi^{-1})$ is a homeomorphic domain representation of \bar{A} ; and
- (iv) $(D(A), \Theta[A], \Theta^{-1})$ is a homeomorphic domain representation of A.

We conclude this section by showing how the Banach fixed point theorem is obtained from the least fixed point theorem for domains.

Let (X, d) be a complete metric space. Then $f: X \to X$ is said to be a *contraction mapping* if there is a constant c < 1 such that for each $x, y \in X$,

$$d(f(x), f(y)) < c \cdot d(x, y)$$

Proposition 3.21. (Banach) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and suppose $f: X \to X$ is a contraction mapping. Then f has a unique fixed point, i.e., there is a unique $x_0 \in X$ such that $f(x_0) = x_0$.

Proof. We prove the proposition for ultrametric spaces using our domain representation. A similar proof holds for arbitrary complete metric spaces using domain representations described in Section 3.3.

We may without loss of generality assume X is bounded, say by 1. Uniqueness is proved in the usual way. Let c < 1 be the constant associated with the contraction mapping f. Define a family $\{\equiv_n\}_{n\in\omega}$ of separating equivalences on X by

$$x \equiv_n y \iff d(x, y) \le c^n.$$

Let $\hat{X} = \lim_{\leftarrow} X / \equiv_n$, the completion of X w.r.t. $\{\equiv_n\}_{n \in \omega}$. Then \hat{X} and X are homeomorphic since X is complete, so we identify X, \hat{X} and $D(X)_m$.

Note that if $d(x, y) \leq c^n$ then

$$d(f(x), f(y)) \le c \cdot d(x, y) \le c^{n+1}$$

i.e. $x \equiv_n y \implies f(x) \equiv_{n+1} f(y)$. Thus f is s-congruent where s is the successor function s(n) = n+1. Let $\rho: D(X) \to \omega \cup \{\omega\}$ be a rank function defined by

$$\rho(x) = \begin{cases} n & \text{if } x \in X / \equiv_n \\ \omega & \text{if } x \in D(A)_m. \end{cases}$$

Let $\phi_f^s: D(X) \to D(X)$ be the function representing f with respect to s. Thus for $x \in X$, $f(x) = \phi_f^s(x)$ by Lemma 3.18. Furthermore, from the definition of ϕ_f^s , $\rho(x) = n \Longrightarrow \rho(\phi_f^s(x)) \ge n + 1$. It follows that

$$\rho(\mathrm{fix}(\phi_f^s)) = \rho(\bigsqcup_n (\phi_f^s)^n(\bot)) = \omega$$

and hence $fix(\phi_f^s) \in X$. Now

$$f(\operatorname{fix}(\phi_f^s)) = \phi_f^s(\operatorname{fix}(\phi_f^s)) = \operatorname{fix}(\phi_f^s),$$

i.e., fix (ϕ_f^s) is the fixed point of f.

3.3 Standard algebraic representations

In the previous section we showed that ultrametric spaces have algebraic homeomorphic domain representations where each representing element is maximal. Thus these representations are upwards closed, local and dense. It is the case that algebras important in logic and semantics often are ultrametric with non-expansive operations. However, in mathematical analysis this is no longer the case. For example, the real numbers \mathbb{R} and the complex numbers \mathbb{C} are far from being ultrametric and the same is true for Banach spaces and Hilbert spaces usually studied. In this section we discuss domain representations for such spaces.

Exercise 3.22. Let D be an algebraic domain and let D_m denote the set of maximal elements in D. Show that the Scott topology on D_m has a clopen base (i.e., each element in the base is both open and closed).

It follows that D_m is totally disconnected. This means that for $x, y \in D_m$, if $x \neq y$ then there are disjoint open sets U and V such that $D_m = U \cup V$, $x \in U$ and $y \in V$.

Theorem 3.23. (Blanck [5]) A compact topological space X has an algebraic homeomorphic representation by maximal elements if, and only if, X is totally disconnected.

We conclude that if we want to represent spaces used in analysis, such as the reals \mathbb{R} , we have two alternatives. The first alternative is to use continuous domain representations. It is commonly the case that the represented space X can be topologically embedded into the maximal elements of the representing continuous domain. The second alternative, which we will pursue here, is to use algebraic domain representations (D, D^R, ν) where by necessity the quotient D^R / \equiv_{ν} is non-trivial.

Each approach has its advantage. A representation by maximal elements is appealing but continuous domains are generally more complicated objects than algebraic domains. Algebraic domains, on the other hand, are "concrete" and simple and arise in a natural way from approximations as described in Section 2.1. But an algebraic domain representation often necessitates a quotient structure. From a computational point of view the latter is not as problematic as it may seem since computations are performed on the representation and are only induced on the quotient structure.

From Proposition 2.28 we see that every continuous domain has an algebraic dense retract domain representation. It follows that every space Xrepresentable by a continuous domain is also representable by an algebraic domain. Thus the choice is mainly a matter of convenience.

Let X be a topological space. We shall (essentially) use the construction in Section 2.1 to obtain an algebraic retract representation (D, D^R, ν) of X.

We choose as a set of approximations a family of subsets of X satisfying the following with respect to the topology of X.

Definition 3.24. Let X be a topological space. Then a family P of nonempty subsets of X is a *neighbourhood system* if $X \in P$ and

- (i) if $F, G \in P$ and $F \cap G \neq \emptyset$ then $F \cap G \in P$; and
- (ii) if $x \in U$, where U is open, then $(\exists F \in P)(x \in F^{\circ} \subseteq \overline{F} \subseteq U)$.

Some remarks on notation and concepts. For $F \subseteq X$, F° denotes the *interior* of F, i.e., $F^{\circ} = \bigcup \{U : U \subseteq F \text{ and } U \text{ open}\}$. Similarly, \overline{F} denotes the *closure* of F, i.e., $\overline{F} = \bigcap \{H : F \subseteq H \text{ and } H \text{ closed}\}$.

A Hausdorff space X is said to be *regular* if whenever $x \in U$, where U is open, there is V open such that $x \in V \subseteq \overline{V} \subseteq U$. Condition (ii) above implies that a Hausdorff space with a neighbourhood system is regular.

Here are some examples of neighbourhood systems for X.

Example 3.25.

- (i) A topological base \mathcal{B} for a regular space X closed under intersection.
- (ii) The set P of all non-empty compact sets (and X) for a locally compact regular space X.
- (iii) The set P of all non-empty closed subsets of a regular space.

Of course, there is no need generally to take *all* compact or closed sets in Example 3.25. It is enough to take sufficiently many. This is crucial from a computational point of view.

Example 3.26. For \mathbb{R} we have the following natural neighbourhood systems.

- (i) $P_1 = \{(a, b) : a < b, a, b \in \mathbb{Q}\} \cup \{\mathbb{R}\};$
- (ii) $P_2 = \{[a, b]: a \le b, a, b \in \mathbb{Q}\} \cup \{\mathbb{R}\}.$

Note that P_1 is a neighbourhood system of type (i) in Example 3.25 whereas P_2 is of type (ii) and type (iii). Perhaps surprisingly, the neighbourhood system P_2 will turn out to be preferable to P_1 .

Let P be a neighbourhood system for X. Then $P = (P; \supseteq, X)$ is a cusl and it is an approximation structure for X via the approximation

$$F \prec x \Longleftrightarrow x \in F.$$

Let \overline{P} be the ideal completion of P. It is an algebraic domain.

Definition 3.27. An ideal $I \in \overline{P}$ converges to a point $x \in X$ if for every open set U containing x there is $F \in I$ such that $x \in F \subseteq U$. I converges to x is denoted by $I \to x$.

This definition differs slightly from the one given in Section 2.1. However, for neighbourhood systems as in Example 3.25 (ii) and (iii) (for complete metric spaces) they coincide. It is easy to see that if X is a Hausdorff space then a converging ideal converges to a unique point.

Let X be a Hausdorff space and let $\overline{P}^R = \{I \in \overline{P} : I \text{ convergent}\}$. Define $\nu : \overline{P}^R \to X$ by

$$\nu(I) = x \Longleftrightarrow I \to x.$$

We will show that $(\bar{P}, \bar{P}^R, \nu)$ is a retract representation of X. For $x \in X$ we define the important ideal

$$I_x = \{F \in P : x \in F^\circ\}.$$

Note that $I_x \to x$ and that $J \to x \iff I_x \subseteq J$.

Theorem 3.28. Let X be a Hausdorff space and P a neighbourhood system for X. Then $(\bar{P}, \bar{P}^R, \nu)$ is an algebraic retract representation of X which is upwards closed.

Proof. Suppose $U \subseteq X$ is open and $\nu(I) = x \in U$. By Definition 3.24 (ii) there is $F \in P$ such that $x \in F^{\circ} \subseteq \overline{F} \subseteq U$. Thus $F \in I_x$ and hence $F \in I$. Suppose $J \in \overline{P}^R$ and $F \in J$. Then, clearly $\nu(J) \in \overline{F}$, i.e., $\uparrow F \subseteq U$. (As usual F is identified with its principal ideal $\downarrow F$.) Thus ν is continuous.

Define $\eta: X \to \overline{P}^R$ by $\eta(x) = I_x$. Then $\nu \circ \eta = \operatorname{id}_X$. Furthermore η is continuous since for $F \in P$,

$$\eta^{-1}(\uparrow F \cap \bar{P}^R) = \{x \in X : F \in I_x\} = \{x \in X : x \in F^\circ\} = F^\circ.$$

The representation is upwards closed since I_x is the smallest ideal converging to x.

Exercise 3.29. Show that the domain representation of \mathbb{R} obtained from P_1 in Example 3.26 is not local, but the one obtained from P_2 is local.

The exercise indicates why open neighbourhood systems such as P_1 may not be as useful as closed neighbourhood systems.

Suppose P is a neighbourhood system for X consisting of only closed sets. Then for $x \in X$,

$$I^x = \{F \in P \colon x \in F\}$$

is an ideal, $I^x \to x$, and I^x is the largest ideal converging to x.

Theorem 3.30. Every regular Hausdorff space X has an algebraic retract representation which is upwards closed, dense and local.

Proof. Choose the neighbourhood system P consisting of all non-empty closed subsets of X. Then the representation $(\bar{P}, \bar{P}^R, \nu)$ is dense since for $F \in P$ there is $x \in F$ and hence $F \in I^x$, i.e., $I^x \in \uparrow F$. The representation is local since I^x is the largest ideal converging to x.

Example 3.31. The algebraic interval domain

We let \mathcal{R} be the domain representation of \mathbb{R} obtained from P_2 in Example 3.26. Note that each irrational $x \in \mathbb{R}$ is represented by exactly one ideal, namely $I_x = I^x$. Each rational $x \in \mathbb{R}$, on the other hand, is represented by four distinct ideals: I_x , I^x , and

$$I_x^- = \{[a,b] : a < x \le b\}$$
 and $I_x^+ = \{[a,b] : a \le x < b\}.$

We know by Theorem 3.23 that \mathbb{R} cannot be homeomorphically represented by the maximal elements in \mathcal{R} since \mathbb{R} is a connected space.

We close this part by mentioning a theorem which says that if we want an upwards closed algebraic retract domain representation of a space X then we may as well use a neighbourhood system. (In particular they exist.)

Theorem 3.32. (Blanck [5]) A topological space X has an upwards closed algebraic retract domain representation if, and only if, X is a regular Hausdorff space.

A domain representation of X obtained from a neighbourhood system is said to be a *standard algebraic representation* of X.

Next we consider the problem of lifting continuous functions to the representing domains. **Theorem 3.33.** Let X and Y be regular Hausdorff spaces with neighbourhood systems P and Q, respectively. Let $(\bar{P}, \bar{P}^R, \nu)$ and $(\bar{Q}, \bar{Q}^R, \mu)$ be the domain representations of X and Y obtained from P and Q. Suppose $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous function. Then there is a continuous function $\bar{f}: \bar{P} \to \bar{Q}$ such that for all $I \in \bar{P}^R$,

$$\mu(\bar{f}(I)) = f(\nu(I)),$$

i.e., \overline{f} is a lifting or representation of f.

Proof. Given continuous $f: X \to Y$ define $\bar{f}: P \to \bar{Q}$ by

$$\bar{f}(F) = \{ G \in Q \colon f[F] \subseteq G^{\circ} \}.$$

It is easily verified that $\bar{f}(F)$ is an ideal and that \bar{f} is monotone. We also denote by \bar{f} its unique continuous extension to all of \bar{P} . In fact for $I \in \bar{P}$,

$$\bar{f}(I) = \{ G \in Q \colon (\exists F \in I) (f[F] \subseteq G^{\circ}) \}.$$

Suppose $I \in \overline{P}^R$ and $\nu(I) = x$. Then $I_x \subseteq I$ and hence $\overline{f}(I_x) \subseteq \overline{f}(I)$. Thus it suffices to show that $I_{f(x)} \subseteq \overline{f}(I_x)$.

Let $G \in I_{f(x)}$. Then $f(x) \in G^{\circ}$ and $x \in f^{-1}[G^{\circ}]$. But then there is $F \in I_x$ such that $F \subseteq f^{-1}[G^{\circ}]$. This shows that $G \in \overline{f}(I_x)$.

Corollary 3.34. Let $A = (A; \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k)$ be a topological Σ -algebra and suppose A is a regular Hausdorff space. Then A has an algebraic retract domain representation which is upwards closed, dense and total.

Proof. This follows from the theorem since if P is a neighbourhood system for A then P^n is a neighbourhood system for A^n .

The ring operations on \mathbb{R} are continuous so the ring of real numbers has a nice domain representation. In Section 5 we will show that the domain representation for the ring \mathbb{R} obtained from P_2 in Example 3.26 is effective.

3.4 Type structures

In this section we briefly return to the category **PER(Dom)** discussed in Section 3.1. Here we restrict ourselves to the case when **Dom** is the category of algebraic domains with continuous functions as morphisms.

The category **PER(Dom)** is cartesian closed as noted by Proposition 3.6. This means that we can build type structures over a domain with a per (D, \equiv) . Recall that if (D, \equiv_D) and (E, \equiv_E) are domains with pers then $\equiv_{[D \to E]}$ defined by

$$f \equiv_{[D \to E]} g \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \forall x, y(x \equiv_D y \implies f(x) \equiv_E g(y))$$

is a per on $[D \to E]$ and

$$([D \to E], \equiv_{[D \to E]})$$

is the exponent (function space) in **PER(Dom)**.

We also define a per $\equiv_{D \times E}$ on $D \times E$ by

$$(x,y) \equiv_{D \times E} (z,w) \iff x \equiv_D z \text{ and } y \equiv_E w.$$

The set of *finite type symbols* TS is defined inductively by $o \in TS$; and if $\sigma, \tau \in TS$ then $(\sigma \times \tau) \in TS$ and $(\sigma \to \tau) \in TS$.

Given a domain with per (D_o, \equiv_o) we obtain a typestructure

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{D}_o = (D_o, \equiv_o) \\ \mathcal{D}_{\sigma \times \tau} = (D_\sigma \times D_\tau, \equiv_{\sigma \times \tau}) \\ \mathcal{D}_{\sigma \to \tau} = ([D_\sigma \to D_\tau], \equiv_{\sigma \to \tau}). \end{cases}$$

Exercise 3.35. Let *D* and *E* be algebraic domains and suppose $f: D \to E$ and $g: D \to E$ are continuous. Show that if $x, y \in D$ then $x \sqcap y \in D$, where $x \sqcap y =$ infimum of x and y. Show also that $(f \sqcap g)(x) = f(x) \sqcap g(x)$.

We say that a per \equiv on D is upwards closed if

$$x \equiv x \text{ and } x \sqsubseteq y \implies x \equiv y.$$

Consider the type structure above when the per \equiv_{σ} is ignored. Then we obtain a *partial* type structure of domains in that it contains partial elements, e.g., \perp in D_o . There is a natural way to isolate the *total* elements of this partial type structure as follows. A pair of elements is total if each component is total, and a function is total if it takes total elements to total elements. We thus obtain the following type structure of total elements.

$$\begin{cases} D_o = \{x \in D_o : x \equiv_o x\} \\ \bar{D}_{\sigma \times \tau} = \bar{D}_{\sigma} \times \bar{D}_{\tau} \\ \bar{D}_{\sigma \to \tau} = \{f \in [D_\sigma \to D_\tau] : f[\bar{D}_\sigma] \subseteq \bar{D}_\tau\} \end{cases}$$

Here is a useful connection between total elements and the corresponding pers. Note that it holds even when density is not assumed. The proposition indicates that our concepts are correct.

Proposition 3.36. (Longo-Moggi [26]) Assume that \equiv_o is upwards closed in the type structive $\{\mathcal{D}_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma \in \mathrm{TS}}$. Then for each $\sigma \in \mathrm{TS}$ and $x, y \in D_{\sigma}$,

$$x \equiv_{\sigma} y \Longleftrightarrow x \sqcap y \in \bar{D}_{\sigma}$$

Proof. By an easy induction on σ .

When studying a type structure of domains with pers there are two natural questions to be considered.

Lifting: Let (D, \equiv_D) and (E, \equiv_E) be domains with pers. Then \overline{D}/\equiv_D and \overline{E}/\equiv_E are topological spaces given the quotient topology from the Scott topology. Does a continuous function $f: \overline{D}/\equiv_D \to \overline{E}/\equiv_E$ have a continuous representation or lifting $\overline{f}: D \to E$?

Density: Is the per \equiv_D dense in D, i.e., does every non-empty open subset of D contain an element x such that $x \equiv_D x$? For algebraic domains this equivalent to the question if for each $a \in D_c$ there is $x \in D$ such that $a \sqsubseteq x$ and $x \equiv_D x$.

Exercise 3.37.

- (i) Let (D, \equiv) be a dense domain with per. Show that every continuous function $f: \overline{D}/\equiv \to \mathbb{N}$ (where \mathbb{N} is given the discrete topology) has a continuous lifting $\overline{f}: D \to \mathbb{N}_{\perp}$.
- (ii) Let (D, \equiv) be an algebraic domain with per and assume D is separable and \equiv is upwards closed. Show that every continuous function $f: \overline{D}/\equiv \rightarrow \mathbb{N}$ has a continuous lifting $\overline{f}: D \rightarrow \mathbb{N}_{\perp}$.

Example 3.38. (Ershov [15]) Let $D_o = \mathbb{N}_{\perp}$ and let $n \equiv_o m \iff n = m \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\bar{D}_{\sigma} / \equiv_{\sigma} \cong Ct(\sigma)$$

where $\{Ct(\sigma)\}_{\sigma \in \text{TS}}$ is the type structure of the Kleene-Kreisel total continuos functionals ([21, 22]). Moreover the two type structures $\{\bar{D}_{\sigma}/\equiv_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$ and $\{Ct(\sigma)\}_{\sigma}$ are naturally isomorphic in that they respect the evaluation functionals. The type structure satisfies both lifting and density.

Example 3.39. Consider the neighbourhood system P for \mathbb{R} given in Example 3.26 (ii) and let \mathcal{R} be the ideal completion of P. Let also \mathcal{R} denote the standard domain representation $\mathcal{R} = (\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{R}^R, \nu)$ for \mathbb{R} . Then define for $x, y \in \mathcal{R}$,

$$x \equiv_o y \iff x, y \in \mathcal{R}^R \text{ and } \nu(x) = \nu(y).$$

Then (\mathcal{R}, \equiv) is a domain with per. Note that $\mathcal{R}^R / \equiv \cong \mathbb{R}$ and that \equiv is upwards closed and dense. Consider the type structure over (\mathcal{R}, \equiv) . It has been shown for the first few levels in [7] and in general by D. Normann [31] that the type structure is dense and has liftings. Note that the type structure obtained from the neighbourhood system given in Example 3.26 (i) is not dense. The topology of $\overline{[\mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}]} / \equiv_{\mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}}$ is the *compact-open* topology (see di Gianantonio [16] and Blanck [5]).

We close this section by mentioning that also transfinite type structures have been studied. Thus, for example, Waagbø [45] has given a domain representation of Martin-Löf type theory, building on work by Palmgren and Stoltenberg-Hansen [32] and Normann [30].

4 Effective domains

Until now we have, tacitly, identified computability with continuity. This identification, though of course not generally valid, may be defended as follows. There are rather general theorems, such as Ceitin's theorem (see Ceitin [10] and Moschovakis [29]), which state that computable functions between effective metric spaces (satisfying natural conditions) are continuous. On the other hand it is an empirical fact that "natural" functions in analysis shown to be continuous are also computable. Nonetheless we need a precise notion of computability to even make such statements. In addition the effective theory is interesting by itself.

In this section we will impose and study notions of computability or effectivity on domains. The type of effectivity we consider is based on what may be described as "concrete" computability, i.e., based on computations which may in principle be performed on a digital computer. Put differently, our computability theory is driven by the partial recursive functions. We use the Mal'cev-Ershov-Rabin theory of numberings in order to extend computability from the natural numbers to other structures, such as domains.

We know from 2.3.1 that an algebraic cpo is completely determined by its cusl of compact elements and, more generally, a continuous cpo is determined by a base. Moreover continuous functions between continuous cpos are completely determined by their behaviour on the bases of the cpos (see Proposition 2.27). Thus it suffices to compute on a base of the cpo. A further argument is that a base for a cpo is an approximation structure with respect to the way below relation and that we compute on cpos by computing on the approximations.

We assume some very basic knowledge of recursion theory. This can be found in any text on recursion theory and also in Stoltenberg-Hansen et al. [39]. Here are a few conventions and facts. Throughout we let $\{W_e\}_{e\in\omega}$ be a standard numbering of the recursively enumerable (r.e.) sets. Let W be an r.e. set. An *enumeration* of W is a total recursive function $\lambda n.W^n$, where W^n is (a canonical index for) a finite set, such that the following hold:

- (i) $m \leq n \implies W^m \subseteq W^n$, and
- (ii) $W = \bigcup_{n \in \omega} W^n$.

Each r.e. set has an enumeration. In fact, there is a total recursive function $\lambda en.W_e^n$ such that for each e, $\lambda n.W_e^n$ is an enumeration of W_e .

Let A be a set. A numbering of A is a surjective function $\alpha: \omega \to A$. It should be thought of as a coding of A by natural numbers. A subset $S \subseteq A$ is α -semidecidable if $\alpha^{-1}(S)$ is r.e. and S is α -decidable if $\alpha^{-1}(S)$ is recursive.

Let B be a set with a numbering β . Then a function $f: A \to B$ is said to be (α, β) -computable if there is a recursive function $\overline{f}: \omega \to \omega$ such that for each n,

$$f(\alpha(n)) = \beta(\bar{f}(n)).$$

We say that \overline{f} tracks f.

We develop the theory for continuous cpos. The treatment for algebraic cpos is in certain places slightly simpler and the reader may for convenience think of a domain as an algebraic cpo and of its base as the cusl of compact elements.

Definition 4.1. A continuous cpo $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ is weakly effective if D has a base B for which there is a surjective function

 $\alpha{:}\,\omega\to B$

such that the relation $\alpha(n) \ll \alpha(m)$ is a recursively enumerable relation on ω .

Terminology: In this section we use "domain" to denote a continuous cpo unless otherwise specified.

We denote a domain weakly effective under a numbering α by (D, α) . Implicit in this notation is a fixed base $B = \alpha[\omega]$. We will use the notation B for such a base. Thus for $x \in D$, we let $\operatorname{approx}_{\alpha}(x) = \{a \in B : a \ll x\}$, the set of approximations of x w.r.t. the base B determined by α . The condition on the numbering in Definition 4.1 is usually stated as \ll is α -semidecidable.

Computable elements are those that can be effectively approximated and effective functions are those whose values can be effectively approximated from effective approximations of the arguments.

Definition 4.2. Let (D, α) and (E, β) be weakly effective domains.

(i) An element $x \in D$ is α -computable if the set

$$\{n \in \omega : \alpha(n) \ll x\} = \alpha^{-1}(\operatorname{approx}_{\alpha}(x))$$

is r.e. An r.e. index for the set $\alpha^{-1}(\operatorname{approx}_{\alpha}(x))$ is an *index* for x.

(ii) A continuous function $f: D \to E$ is (α, β) -effective if the relation

$$\beta(m) \ll f(\alpha(n))$$

is r.e. An r.e. index for the set $\{\langle m,n\rangle:\beta(m)\ll f(\alpha(n))\}$ is an *index* for f.

The intuition in part (ii) is that the approximations to f(x) are generated simultaneously with the approximations to x.

Notation $D_{k,\alpha} = \{x \in D : x \ \alpha \text{-computable}\}.$

Proposition 4.3. Let (D, α) , (E, β) and (F, γ) be weakly effective domains and suppose $f: D \to E$ and $g: E \to F$ are (α, β) -effective and (β, γ) -effective, respectively.

- (i) If $x \in D$ is α -computable then f(x) is β -computable.
- (ii) $h = g \circ f$ is (α, γ) -effective.

Proof. (i) Let $W = \{n : \alpha(n) \ll x\}$. Then W is r.e. and

$$\beta(m) \ll f(x) \Longleftrightarrow (\exists n \in W) (\beta(m) \ll \alpha(n))$$

by Proposition 2.27. (ii) is proved similarly.

Observe that the proof is *uniform*. This means there is a total recursive function which given indices for x and f computes an index for f(x). Similarly, there is a recursive function which given indices for f and g computes an index for $g \circ f$.

We now show that $D_{k,\alpha}$ has a natural numbering.

Theorem 4.4. Let (D, α) be a weakly effective domain with base $B = \alpha[\omega]$. Then there is a numbering $\bar{\alpha}: \omega \to D_{k,\alpha}$ such that

- (i) the inclusion mapping $\iota: B \to D_{k,\alpha}$ is $(\alpha, \bar{\alpha})$ -computable; and
- (ii) the relation $\alpha(n) \ll \bar{\alpha}(m)$ is r.e., i.e., $\operatorname{approx}_{\alpha}(\bar{\alpha}(m))$ is α -semidecidable uniformly in m.

Proof. Let $s: \omega \to \omega$ be a total recursive function such that

$$W_{s(e)} = \{n : (\exists m \in W_e)(\alpha(n) \ll \alpha(m))\}$$

and let $\lambda n \ll^n$ be a recursive enumeration of \ll .

We define total recursive functions f(e, n) and r(e, n), a recursive relation R(e, n) and a recursive enumeration of finite sets V_e^n . Set $f(e, 0) = n_{\perp}$, where $\alpha(n_{\perp}) = \perp$, r(e, 0) = 0, and $V_e^0 = \{n_{\perp}\} = \{f(e, 0)\}$. Let

$$R(e,n) \iff (\exists k \in W_{s(e)}^n) (\alpha[V_e^n \cup W_{s(e)}^{r(e,n)}] \ll^n \alpha(k)).$$

Now define

$$f(e, n+1) = \begin{cases} \text{(some } k \in W_{s(e)}^n)(\alpha[V_e^n \cup W_{s(e)}^{r(e,n)}] \ll^n \alpha(k)) & \text{if } R(e, n) \\ f(e, n) & \text{if } \neg R(e, n); \end{cases}$$

$$r(e, n+1) = \begin{cases} r(e, n) + 1 & \text{if } R(e, n) \\ r(e, n) & \text{if } \neg R(e, n); \end{cases}$$

37

and

$$V_e^{n+1} = V_e^n \cup \{f(e, n+1)\}.$$

These functions are clearly recursive. Let $V_e = \bigcup_n V_e^n$. Then V_e is r.e. with an r.e. index computed uniformly from e. Let $t: \omega \to \omega$ be a total recursive function such that

$$W_{t(e)} = \{ m \in \omega : (\exists k \in V_e)(\alpha(m) \ll \alpha(k)) \}.$$

It is not hard to show, using interpolation when appropriate, that $\alpha[W_{t(e)}]$ is an ideal, that $\alpha[V_e]$ is a \ll -chain and that $\bigsqcup \alpha[W_{t(e)}] = \bigsqcup \alpha[V_e]$.

Define $\bar{\alpha}: \omega \to D_{k,\alpha}$ by

$$\bar{\alpha}(e) = \bigsqcup \alpha[W_{t(e)}] = \bigsqcup \alpha[V_e].$$

Then $\bar{\alpha}$ is a surjective numbering of $D_{k,\alpha}$.

Let $\iota: B \to D_{k,\alpha}$ be the inclusion mapping and let g be a total recursive function such that $W_{g(n)} = \{m: \alpha(m) \ll \alpha(n)\}$. Then

$$\bar{\alpha}(g(n)) = \bigsqcup \alpha[W_{tg(n)}] = \bigsqcup \alpha[W_{g(n)}] = \alpha(n)$$

since $W_{tg(n)} = W_{g(n)}$. Thus ι is $(\alpha, \bar{\alpha})$ -computable.

Finally, it follows that $\alpha(n) \ll \bar{\alpha}(e)$ is r.e. since

$$\alpha(n) \ll \bar{\alpha}(e) = \bigsqcup \alpha[W_{t(e)}] \iff (\exists m \in W_{t(e)})(\alpha(n) \ll \alpha(m)).$$

A numbering γ of $D_{k,\alpha}$ satisfying (i) and (ii) of the theorem, as does $\bar{\alpha}$, is said to be a *constructive numbering* of $D_{k,\alpha}$. We say that $\bar{\alpha}$ is the *canonical numbering* of $D_{k,\alpha}$ obtained from α .

From the proof of the theorem we easily abstract the following important facts.

Lemma 4.5. Let (D, α) be a weakly effective domain and let $\bar{\alpha}$ be the canonical numbering of $D_{k,\alpha}$ obtained from α .

- (i) There is a total recursive function $t: \omega \to \omega$ such that for each e, $W_{t(e)} = \alpha^{-1}(\operatorname{approx}_{\alpha}(\bar{\alpha}(e)))$ and $\bar{\alpha}(t(e)) = \bar{\alpha}(e)$.
- (ii) For each $x \in D_{k,\alpha}$, $W_e = \alpha^{-1}(\operatorname{approx}_{\alpha}(x)) \Longrightarrow \bar{\alpha}(e) = x$.
- (iii) If $\alpha[W_e]$ is directed then $\bar{\alpha}(e) = \bigsqcup \alpha[W_e]$.

The following approximations will be used later.

Lemma 4.6. Let (D, α) be a weakly effective domain with base $B = \text{Im}(\alpha)$. There is a function $\tilde{\alpha}: \omega^2 \to B$ and a total recursive function $p: \omega^2 \to \omega$ such that for each $e \in \omega$,

- (i) $m \le n \Longrightarrow \tilde{\alpha}(e,m) \ll \tilde{\alpha}(e,n);$
- (ii) $\bar{\alpha}(e) = \bigsqcup_n \tilde{\alpha}(e, n)$; and
- (iii) $\tilde{\alpha}(e,n) = \alpha(p(e,n)).$

Proof. We use the notation in the proof of Theorem 4.4. The function r(t(e), n) is unbounded so we define a recursive function q by q(0) = 0 and

$$q(n+1) = (\text{least } k > q(n))R(t(e), k).$$

Let $p(e, n) = f(t(e), q(n))$ and $\tilde{\alpha}(e, n) = \alpha(p(e, n)).$

Definition 4.7. Let (D, α) be a weakly effective domain. A constructive numbering γ of $D_{k,\alpha}$ is *recursively complete* if there is a total recursive function h such that for each e,

$$\gamma[W_e] \text{directed} \implies \gamma h(e) = \bigsqcup \gamma[W_e].$$

Theorem 4.8. Let (D, α) be a weakly effective domain and let $\bar{\alpha}$ be the canonical numbering of $D_{k,\alpha}$.

- (i) $\bar{\alpha}$ is recursively complete.
- (ii) If γ is a recursively complete constructive numbering of $D_{k,\alpha}$ then id: $D_{k,\alpha} \to D_{k,\alpha}$ is $(\bar{\alpha}, \gamma)$ -computable and $(\gamma, \bar{\alpha})$ -computable.

Part (ii) of the theorem says that $\bar{\alpha}$ and γ are equivalent as numberings of $D_{k,\alpha}$, i.e., $D_{k,\alpha}$ is *stable* with respect to recursively complete numberings.

Proof. (i) Let W_e be r.e. such that $\bar{\alpha}[W_e]$ is directed. Then

$$\alpha(n) \ll \bigsqcup \bar{\alpha}[W_e] \iff (\exists k \in W_e)(\alpha(n) \ll \bar{\alpha}(k)).$$

Thus there is a total recursive function h such that

$$W_{h(e)} = \{ n \colon (\exists k \in W_e)(\alpha(n) \ll \bar{\alpha}(k)) \},\$$

since $\bar{\alpha}$ is constructive. By Lemma 4.5 $\bar{\alpha}(h(e)) = \bigsqcup \bar{\alpha}[W_e]$.

The proof of (ii) is similar, again using Lemma 4.5.

Example 4.9.

- (i) Let (D, α) be a weakly effective flat domain. Then $D_{k,\alpha} = D$.
- (ii) Let \mathcal{P} be the domain of all partial functions from \mathbb{N} into \mathbb{N} ordered by graph inclusion. Let α be a standard numbering of the set \mathcal{P}_c of finite functions. Then $\mathcal{P}_{k,\alpha}$ is the set of partial recursive functions. The numbering $\bar{\alpha}$ is a standard numbering of the partial recursive functions satisfying the universal property and the s-m-n theorem.

(iii) Let $\wp(\omega)$ be the domain of subsets of ω ordered by inclusion and let α be the canonical numbering of the finite sets. Then $\wp(\omega)_{k,\alpha}$ is the family of r.e. sets.

Exercise 4.10. Let $\{\cdot\}: \omega \to \mathcal{P}_{k,\alpha}$ be defined by $\{e\}(n) \simeq U(\langle e, n \rangle)$ where U is a partial recursive universal function. (This means that for each partial recursive function f there is e such that $f(n) \simeq U(\langle e, n \rangle)$). Show that $\{\cdot\}$ is a constructive numbering of $\mathcal{P}_{k,\alpha}$. Show further that if the s-m-n theorem also holds for $\{\cdot\}$ then $\{\cdot\}$ is recursively complete. Deduce a form of Roger's isomorphism theorem which states that all enumerations of the partial recursive functions which are universal and satisfy the s-m-n theorem are recursively equivalent.

We are now going to consider the equivalence of a function between weakly effective domains being computable and being effective in the sense of Definition 4.2. One direction is simple.

Proposition 4.11. Let (D, α) and (E, β) be weakly effective domains. If $f: D \to E$ is (α, β) -effective then $f|_{D_{k,\alpha}}: D_{k,\alpha} \to E_{k,\beta}$ is $(\bar{\alpha}, \bar{\beta})$ -computable.

Proof. Considering the functions from Lemma 4.6 we have

$$f(\bar{\alpha}(e)) = f(\bigsqcup_{n \in \omega} \tilde{\alpha}(e, n)) = \bigsqcup_{n \in \omega} f\tilde{\alpha}(e, n).$$

But $\tilde{\alpha}(e, n) = \alpha(p(e, n))$ where p is total recursive, so

$$\beta^{-1}(\operatorname{approx}_{\beta}(f\bar{\alpha}(e))) = \{m: \exists n(\beta(m) \ll f(\alpha(p(e,n))))\}.$$

The right hand side is r.e. uniformly in e so there is a total recursive function g such that $W_{q(e)} = \{m: \exists n(\beta(m) \ll f(\alpha(p(e, n))))\}$. But then

$$\beta(g(e)) = f\bar{\alpha}(e),$$

i.e., g recursively tracks $f|_{D_{k,\alpha}}$.

Note that an index for g is obtained uniformly from an index for f.

We are now going to show the converse of the above proposition. We are, however, going to show something stronger, namely, that each $(\bar{\alpha}, \bar{\beta})$ computable function $f: D_{k,\alpha} \to E_{k,\beta}$ has an (α, β) -effective (and hence continuous) extension $\bar{f}: D \to E$.

First we need a recursion theoretic lemma, a consequence of the second recursion theorem.

Lemma 4.12. (Berger) Let V and W be r.e. sets such that W contains all r.e. indices for V. Let r be a total recursive function and let $\lambda q.V^q$ be a recursive enumeration of V. Then there is $e \in W$ and $q \in \omega$ such that

$$W_e = V^q \cup W_{r(q)}.$$

In other words, if W contains all r.e. indices for V then W also contains an index for $W_{r(q)}$ for some q, modulo a finite subset of V.

Proof. Let $\lambda q.W^q$ be an enumeration of W such that $W^0 = \emptyset$. Define W_e using the second recursion theorem by

$$x \in W_e \Longleftrightarrow \exists q [(x \in V^q \land e \notin W^q) \lor (x \in W_{r(q)} \land e \in W^{q+1} - W^q)].$$

Suppose $e \notin W$. Then

$$x \in W_e \iff \exists q (x \in V^q) \iff x \in V,$$

i.e., $W_e = V$. But then $e \in W$ by assumption, so we conclude $e \in W$. Let q be such that $e \in W^{q+1} - W^q$. Then

$$x \in W_e \iff x \in V^q \lor x \in W_{r(q)}.$$

We now connect effectivity with the Scott topology.

Definition 4.13. Let (D, α) be a weakly effective domain.

(i) $U \subseteq D$ is α -effectively open if there is an r.e. set W such that

$$U = \bigcup_{e \in W} \hat{\uparrow} \alpha(e).$$

An r.e. index for W is an α -index for U as an effectively open set.

(ii) $U \subseteq D_{k,\alpha}$ is α -effectively open in $D_{k,\alpha}$ if there is an α -effectively open set V such that $U = D_{k,\alpha} \cap V$.

Theorem 4.14. (Ershov) Let (D, α) be a weakly effective domain. Then $U \subseteq D_{k,\alpha}$ is $\bar{\alpha}$ -semidecidable if, and only if, U is α -effectively open in $D_{k,\alpha}$.

Proof. Suppose U is α -effectively open and let W be an r.e. set such that $U = \bigcup_{e \in W} (D_{k,\alpha} \cap \uparrow \alpha(e))$. Then

$$\bar{\alpha}(n) \in U \iff (\exists e \in W)(\alpha(e) \ll \bar{\alpha}(n))$$

so U is $\bar{\alpha}$ -semidecidable.

For the converse suppose $U \subseteq D_{k,\alpha}$ is $\bar{\alpha}$ -semidecidable and consider $W = \{e \in \omega : \alpha(e) \in U\}$. Note that W is r.e. since the inclusion $\iota : B \to D_{k,\alpha}$ is $(\alpha, \bar{\alpha})$ -computable and U is $\bar{\alpha}$ -semidecidable. Suppose we have shown

(i) U is upwards closed with respect to \ll in $D_{k,\alpha}$, and

(ii) for each $x \in U$ there is $a \in B \cap U$ such that $a \ll x$.

Then $U = \bigcup_{e \in W} (D_{k,\alpha} \cap \uparrow \alpha(e))$, i.e., U is α -effectively open.

To prove (i) we show

$$x \in U, y \in D_{k,\alpha}$$
 and $x \sqsubseteq y \implies y \in U$.

Suppose $x = \bar{\alpha}(m)$ and $y = \bar{\alpha}(n)$ and let $W = \bar{\alpha}^{-1}(U)$. We assume $m \in W$ and $x \sqsubseteq y$ and we show $n \in W$. Let t be the total recursive function from Lemma 4.5 and consider $W_{t(m)} = \alpha^{-1}(\operatorname{approx}_{\alpha}(x))$. Suppose $W_e = W_{t(m)}$. Then

$$\bar{\alpha}(e) = \bar{\alpha}(t(m)) = \bar{\alpha}(m) = x \in U_{\epsilon}$$

i.e., $e \in W$. Thus W contains all r.e. indices for $W_{t(m)}$. Let r(q) be the constant function with value t(n). Then by Lemma 4.12, there are numbers e and q such that $e \in W$ and $W_e = W_{t(m)}^q \cup W_{t(n)}$. But

$$W_{t(m)} = \alpha^{-1}(\operatorname{approx}_{\alpha}(x)) \subseteq \alpha^{-1}(\operatorname{approx}_{\alpha}(y)) = W_{t(n)}$$

so $W_e = W_{t(n)}$. Again by Lemma 4.5

$$y = \bar{\alpha}(n) = \bar{\alpha}(t(n)) = \bar{\alpha}(e)$$

and $e \in W$, so $y \in U$.

To prove (ii) we again let $W = \bar{\alpha}^{-1}(U)$ and $x = \bar{\alpha}(m) \in U$. Let p be the total recursive function from Lemma 4.6 and let r be a total recursive function such that $W_{r(q)} = \{p(t(m), q)\}$ for $q \in \omega$. Let

$$W_{t(m)}^q = \{k \le q : \alpha(k) \ll^q \alpha(p(t(m), q))\}.$$

By the properties of t and p, we see that $\lambda q.W_{t(m)}^q$ is a recursive enumeration of $W_{t(m)}$. By Lemma 4.12 there is $e \in W$ and $q \in \omega$ such that

$$W_e = W_{t(m)}^q \cup W_{r(q)} = W_{t(m)}^q \cup \{p(t(m), q)\}.$$

But $\alpha(p(t(m),q))$ is top element in $\alpha[W_e]$. In particular $\alpha[W_e]$ is directed and hence

$$\bar{\alpha}(e) = \bigsqcup \alpha[W_e] = \alpha(p(t(m), q)) = \tilde{\alpha}(t(m), q) \ll \bar{\alpha}(t(m)) = \bar{\alpha}(m) = x.$$

By the above, $\bar{\alpha}(e)$ is the sought element.

Note that the proof of the theorem is uniform.

Remark 4.15. The Rice-Shapiro theorem follows from the theorem above when applied to the domain $\wp(\omega)$.

Exercise 4.16. Show that $A \subseteq D_{k,\alpha}$ is $\bar{\alpha}$ -decidable if, and only if, $A = \emptyset$ or $A = D_{k,\alpha}$. This is a generalisation of Rice's theorem.

Definition 4.17. Let (D, α) and (E, β) be weakly effective domains and let $D' \subseteq D$ and $E' \subseteq E$. Then a function $f: D' \to E'$ is *effectively continuous* if there is a total recursive function $g: \omega \to \omega$ such that

$$f^{-1}[E' \cap \hat{\uparrow} \beta(e)] = \bigcup_{m \in W_{g(e)}} (D' \cap \hat{\uparrow} \alpha(m)).$$

We leave the following proposition as a straightforward exercise.

Proposition 4.18. Let (D, α) and (E, β) be weakly effective domains and let $D' \subseteq D$ and $E' \subseteq E$ containing the bases determined by α and β . Suppose $f: D' \to E'$ is continuous.

- (i) f is effectively continuous if, and only if, the relation $\beta(m) \ll f(\alpha(n))$ is r.e.
- (ii) f has a unique continuous extension to $\overline{f}: D \to E$ and \overline{f} is (α, β) effective if, and only if, f is effectively continuous.

Here follows a generalisation of the Myhill-Shepherdson theorem.

Theorem 4.19. Let (D, α) and (E, β) be weakly effective domains and let $f: D_{k,\alpha} \to E_{k,\beta}$. Then f is $(\bar{\alpha}, \bar{\beta})$ -computable if, and only if, there is an (α, β) -effective function $\bar{f}: D \to E$ such that $\bar{f}|_{D_{k,\alpha}} = f$.

Proof. One direction is Proposition 4.11. For the other direction we assume $f: D_{k,\alpha} \to E_{k,\beta}$ is $(\bar{\alpha}, \bar{\beta})$ -computable. Let \hat{f} be the total recursive function tracking f. Then

$$\bar{\alpha}(n) \in f^{-1}(\hat{\uparrow}\beta(m) \cap E_{k,\beta}) \iff \beta(m) \ll f(\bar{\alpha}(n)) \iff \beta(m) \ll \bar{\beta}f(n).$$

The latter relation is r.e. since $\bar{\beta}$ is a constructive numbering. Thus the set $f^{-1}(\uparrow \beta(m) \cap E_{k,\beta})$ is open by Theorem 4.14. By the uniformity of that theorem we compute an index for the open set from m, i.e., f is effectively continuous. Now the result follows from Proposition 4.18.

We see from the above theorem that the rather weak hypothesis that the way below relation \ll is semidecidable nonetheless suffices to obtain strong results. However, we cannot build effective type structures. For this we need a stronger notion of domain (since the categories of continuous and algebraic cpos are not cartesian closed) and a stronger notion of effectivity. Here we give one such notion, for simplicity restricting ourselves to consistently complete algebraic cpos, i.e., algebraic domains.

Definition 4.20. An algebraic domain $D = (D; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ is *effective* if there is a numbering $\alpha: \omega \to D_c$ such that the following relations are recursive:

(i) $\alpha(m) \sqsubseteq \alpha(n)$;

- (ii) $\exists k(\alpha(m), \alpha(n) \sqsubseteq \alpha(k))$; and
- (iii) $\alpha(m) \sqcup \alpha(n) = \alpha(k)$.

An effective algebraic domain is a pair (D, α) where D is an algebraic domain and α is an effective numbering of D_c in the above sense.

Let **EADOM** be the category of effective algebraic domains whose morphisms from (D, α) to (E, β) consists of the (α, β) -effective functions from D to E.

Theorem 4.21. The category EADOM is cartesian closed.

Proof. Straightforward from the results in Section 2.3.2

5 Effective domain representations

Our motivation for the study of domain representability was its use together with the theory of effective domains in investigating in a uniform way the effective content of topological algebras. In this section we survey some results of this approach indicating that it is a general method. A further conclusion is that various notions of computability via "concrete" computations coincide, thus showing that the theory of "concrete" computability is stable (see Stoltenberg-Hansen and Tucker [44]).

5.1 Effective topological algebras

The general method we pursue to study the effective properties of a generally uncountable topological algebra A is to find an *effective* domain Drepresenting A in the sense of Definition 3.1 and then measure the effectivity of A by means of the effectivity of the representing domain D. Thus the effectivity of A is dependent on the domain representation D and its effectivity. In practice, given an algebra A one finds a *computable* or *effective* structure P of "concrete" approximations for A which is such that the ideal completion \overline{P} of P is a domain representation of A.

Definition 5.1. Let A be a topological Σ -algebra.

- (i) A is (weakly) effectively domain representable by (D, D_A, ν, α) when (D, D_A, ν) is a domain representation of A and (D, α) is a (weakly) effective Σ-domain.
- (ii) A is effectively domain representable if A is representable by an effective domain.

Next we consider the set of computable elements of a weakly effectively domain representable algebra A, analogous to the set $D_{k,\alpha}$ of computable elements in a weakly effective domain (D, α) .

Definition 5.2. Let A be a topological Σ -algebra weakly effectively domain representable by (D, D_A, ν, α) . Then the set $A_{k,\alpha}$ of (D, D_A, ν, α) -*computable elements* of A is the set

$$A_{k,\alpha} = \{ x \in A : \nu^{-1}(x) \cap D_{k,\alpha} \neq \emptyset \}.$$

We suppress the reference to (D, D_A, ν, α) whenever possible and simply write $A_{k,\alpha}$ (or A_k when also α is suppressed) for the set of computable elements, the effective domain representation being understood.

A Σ -algebra A is said to have a numbering with recursive operations if there is a surjection $\beta : \Omega \to A$, where $\Omega \subseteq \omega$, such that each operation in Ais β -computable. By a k-ary operation σ on A being β -computable we mean that there is a partial recursive function $\hat{\sigma}$ such that

$$n_1, \ldots, n_k \in \Omega \implies \hat{\sigma}(n_1, \ldots, n_k)$$
 defined,

and for $n_1, \ldots, n_k \in \Omega$,

$$\sigma(\beta(n_1),\ldots,\beta(n_k))=\beta(\hat{\sigma}(n_1,\ldots,n_k)),$$

that is $\hat{\sigma}$ tracks σ with respect to β in the usual way.

We say that (A, β) is a numbered algebra with recursive operations if β is a numbering of A with recursive operations. Note that we put no requirement on the complexity of the code set Ω nor on the (relative) complexity of the equality relation.

Proposition 5.3. Let $(A; \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_q)$ be a topological Σ -algebra weakly effectively domain representable by (D, D_A, ν, α) .

- (i) $A_{k,\alpha}$ is a subalgebra of A.
- (ii) A_{k,α} is a numbered algebra with recursive operations with a numbering *α* induced by *α*.

Proof. Let $\bar{\alpha}: \omega \to D_{k,\alpha}$ be the canonical constructive numbering of $D_{k,\alpha}$ obtained from α . Let $\Omega_A = \bar{\alpha}^{-1}(D_{k,\alpha} \cap D_A)$ and define $\tilde{\alpha}: \Omega_A \to A_{k,\alpha}$ by

$$\tilde{\alpha}(n) = \nu(\bar{\alpha}(n)).$$

Then $\tilde{\alpha}$ is a surjective numbering of $A_{k,\alpha}$.

Now (i) follows immediately from Proposition 4.3 (i). For the proof of (ii) let σ be an *m*-ary operation tracked by the effective operation $\hat{\sigma}$ on *D*. Then by Proposition 4.11 there is a recursive function $f: \omega^m \to \omega$ tracking $\hat{\sigma}$ on $D_{k,\alpha}$. Thus for each $n_1, \ldots, n_m \in \Omega_A$,

$$\sigma(\tilde{\alpha}(n_1),\ldots,\tilde{\alpha}(n_m)) = \nu(\hat{\sigma}(\bar{\alpha}(n_1),\ldots,\bar{\alpha}(n_m))) = \nu(\bar{\alpha}(f(n_1,\ldots,n_m))) = \tilde{\alpha}(f(n_1,\ldots,n_m)),$$

showing that f also tracks σ with respect to $\tilde{\alpha}$.

Now we introduce two notions of effectivity for functions between weakly effectively domain representable topological spaces.

Definition 5.4. Let A and B be topological spaces, weakly effectively domain representable by (D, D_A, ν_A, α) and (E, E_B, ν_B, β) , respectively.

- (i) A continuous function $f: A \to B$ is said to be (α, β) -effective if there is an (α, β) -effective continuous function $\bar{f}: D \to E$ representing f, that is $\bar{f}[D_A] \subseteq E_B$ and for each $x \in D_A$, $f(\nu_A(x)) = \nu_B(\bar{f}(x))$.
- (ii) A function $f: A_{k,\alpha} \to B_{k,\beta}$ is $(\tilde{\alpha}, \tilde{\beta})$ -computable, where $\tilde{\alpha}$ and $\tilde{\beta}$ are the numberings obtained in Proposition 5.3, if there is a partial recursive function \hat{f} such that $\Omega_A \subseteq \operatorname{dom}(\hat{f})$ and for all $n \in \Omega_A$,

$$f(\tilde{\alpha}(n)) = \tilde{\beta}(\hat{f}(n)),$$

that is \hat{f} tracks f with respect to $\tilde{\alpha}$ and $\tilde{\beta}$.

Note that in (ii) we do not require f to be continuous. In many important situations it is the case that each $(\tilde{\alpha}, \tilde{\beta})$ -computable function is continuous. Examples are Ceitin's theorem ([10, 29]) for recursive metric spaces which are recursively separable and have limit algorithms, and the Kreisel-Lacombe-Shoenfield theorem ([23]) on recursive operators on the set of total recursive functions. Berger [9] has proved a generalisation of the Kreisel-Lacombe-Shoenfield theorem to algebraic domains which via carefully chosen domain representations also imply Ceitin's theorem.

Example 5.5. Inverse limits and ultrametric algebras.

Recall the discussion in Section 3.2. Let $\{\equiv_n\}_{n\in\omega}$ be a family of separating congruences on a Σ -algebra A. In order for $\hat{A} = \lim_{\to} A/\equiv_n$ to be effectively domain representable it clearly suffices that \equiv_n is decidable uniformly in n. In case \equiv_n is semidecidable uniformly in n then \hat{A} is weakly effectively domain representable. Examples (i), (ii) and (iii) in 3.10 are effectively domain representable (for (iii) we need to assume R is a computable ring, i.e., the ring operations are computable and equality is decidable).

In order to obtain a weakly effective domain representation of an ultrametric space it suffices that the space is a weakly effective metric space (see Definition 5.18).

Exercise 5.6.

- (i) Let $2^{\omega} = \{f \mid f: \omega \to \{0, 1\}\}$, the Cantor set. Show that 2^{ω} is effectively domain representable such that $(2^{\omega})_k$ is the set of (characteristic functions of the) recursive sets.
- (ii) Let X be a complete effective ultrametric space and let $f: X \to X$ be an effective contraction mapping. Show that the fixed point of f is computable.

5.2 Locally compact Hausdorff spaces

In this section we analyse the effectivity of standard algebraic domain representations from Section 3.3 for locally compact Hausdorff (and hence regular) spaces. We restrict our attention to effective domain representations. The reader is invited to make a similar analysis of weakly effective domain representations using continuous domains or using the technique described in Stoltenberg-Hansen and Tucker [44].

Let X be a locally compact Hausdorff space and let P be a neighbourhood system for X in the sense of Definition 3.24 consisting of compact sets (except possibly X). We call such a P for a *compact neighbourhood system*.

A compact neighbourhood system is said to be α -computable if α is a numbering of P satisfying the conditions in Definition 4.20. It follows that if P is α -computable then \overline{P} , the ideal completion of P, is an effective domain.

The extra needed hypothesis on a computable compact neighbourhood system is that the relation $F \subseteq G^{\circ}$ must be semidecidable.

Below we assume P is an α -computable compact neighbourhood system of X and we consider the standard algebraic domain representation $(\bar{P}, \bar{P}^R, \nu, \alpha)$ of X.

A first observation is that the ideals I_x play an important role.

Lemma 5.7. Suppose the relation $F \subseteq G^{\circ}$ is α -semidecidable for $F, G \in P$. Let $f: \overline{P} \to \overline{P}$ be the function defined by

$$f(I) = \{ G \in P : (\exists F \in I) (F \subseteq G^{\circ}) \}.$$

- (i) f is a continuous (α, α) -effective function and $f[\bar{P}^R] \subseteq \bar{P}^R$.
- (ii) f restricted to $\bar{P}^R_{k,\alpha}$ is $\bar{\alpha}$ -computable.

Proof. The proof of (i) is immediate using the added hypothesis. Part (ii) follows from Proposition 4.11

Corollary 5.8. Suppose the relation $F \subseteq G^{\circ}$ is α -semidecidable for $F, G \in P$. Then $x \in X_{k,\alpha}$ if, and only if, the ideal $I_x = \{G \in P : x \in G^{\circ}\} \in \overline{P}_{k,\alpha}$.

Proof. For the non-trivial direction assume $x \in X_{k,\alpha}$. Let $I \in \overline{P}^R$ be an α computable ideal and let f be the effective function from Lemma 5.7. Then $f(I) = I_x$ and hence I_x is computable by the effectivity of f.

Next we give a sufficient condition for continuous functions between locally compact Hausdorff spaces to be effective. The crucial condition is the semidecidability of whether, for given compact sets, the image of one is in the interior of the other.

Proposition 5.9. Let X and Y be locally compact Hausdorff spaces with cusls P and Q of compact neighbourhood systems, respectively. Suppose P

is α -computable and Q is β -computable. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a continuous function such that the relation

$$f[F] \subseteq G^{\circ}$$

is (α, β) -semidecidable for all (compact) $F \in P$ and $G \in Q$. Then f is (α, β) -effective.

Proof. Let $\overline{f}: \overline{P} \to \overline{Q}$ be the continuous function representing f, defined in the proof of Theorem 3.33. Thus, for compact $F \in P$,

$$\bar{f}(F) = \{ G \in Q : f[F] \subseteq G^{\circ} \},\$$

that is

$$\downarrow G \sqsubseteq \bar{f}(F) \Longleftrightarrow f[F] \subseteq G^O.$$

This relation is by assumption (α, β) -semidecidable, so \bar{f} is (α, β) -effective.

In the remaining part of this section we consider the effective content of the ring of real numbers \mathbb{R} . The set P_2 of Example 3.26 is a compact neighbourhood system for \mathbb{R} . Let $\mathcal{R} = \bar{P}_2$ and let α be a standard numbering making \mathcal{R} into en effective domain. Then $(\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{R}^R, \nu, \alpha)$ is the standard domain representation of \mathbb{R} that we consider.

The effective theory of \mathbb{R} has been much studied and is well understood. Our purpose here is to show that the standard effective theory of \mathbb{R} is equivalent with that obtained from domain representability. A nice general reference for recursive analysis is Pour-El and Richards [35].

Definition 5.10. An element $x \in \mathbb{R}$ is a *computable real* if there is a computable sequence of rational numbers (r_n) such that for each n,

$$|r_n - x| < 2^{-n}.$$

Proposition 5.11. The set $\mathbb{R}_{k,\alpha}$ is precisely the set of computable reals.

Proof. Suppose $x \in \mathbb{R}$ is a computable real. Let (r_n) be a computable sequence of rationals converging to x with the modulus prescribed by Definition 5.10. For each n, let $F_n = [r_n - 2^{-n}, r_n + 2^{-n}]$. Then $x \in F_n^{\circ}$ and the set $\{F_n : n \in \omega\}$ generates a computable ideal, in fact I_x . Thus $x \in \mathbb{R}_{k,\alpha}$.

For the converse inclusion suppose $x \in \mathbb{R}_{k,\alpha}$. Then an $\tilde{\alpha}$ -index for x is an $\bar{\alpha}$ -index for some ideal $I \in \mathcal{R}^R$ such that $\bigcap I = \{x\}$. By Lemma 4.5 we uniformly obtain an r.e. index for $\alpha^{-1}[I]$. For each n we effectively search through I and find $[a_n, b_n] \in I$ such that $b_n - a_n < 2^{-n}$, and set $r_n = (b_n + a_n)/2$. Then (r_n) is a computable sequence of rational numbers witnessing that x is a computable real.

An index for a computable real x is an index for a computable sequence (r_n) of rationals converging to x in the manner prescribed by Definition 5.10. Thus we obtain a numbering

$$\beta: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}_{k,\alpha}$$

where Ω is the set of such indices. The above proof is uniform in the sense that given a β -index for a computable real x then we can compute an $\tilde{\alpha}$ -index for x, and conversely. To be precise, there are partial recursive functions fand g such that if e is a β -index for a computable real x then f(e) is defined and f(e) is an $\tilde{\alpha}$ -index for x. Similarly, if e is an $\tilde{\alpha}$ -index for x then g(e) is defined and g(e) is a β -index for x. Of course, it is not recursively decidable whether or not a number e is an index of a computable real. In fact, Ω is a $\prod_{i=1}^{0}$ set.

We now proceed to show that a function on \mathbb{R} is computable in the sense of recursive analysis if, and only if, it is effective in our sense.

The notion of a *computable* or *recursive* function in recursive analysis is a sensitive one. Here we consider the generally accepted notion, originally due to Grzegorczyk [17] and Lacombe [25].

Definition 5.12. A sequence (x_n) of real numbers is *computable* if there is a computable double sequence (r_{nk}) of rational numbers such that

$$|r_{nk} - x_n| \le 2^{-k}$$
 for all k and n .

Definition 5.13. A function $f: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is *computable* if the following hold.

- (i) If (x_n) is a computable sequence of real numbers then the sequence $(f(x_n))$ is computable.
- (ii) There is a recursive function $d: \omega^2 \to \omega$ such that for all natural numbers N and M and for each $x, y \in [-M, M]$,

$$|x-y| < \frac{1}{d(M,N)} \implies |f(x) - f(y)| < 2^{-N}.$$

Condition (ii) assures that a computable function on \mathbb{R} is continuous. Thus, in order to show that such a function f is effective, it suffices by Proposition 5.9 to show that the relation $f([a,b]) \subseteq [c,d]^{\circ}$ is α -semidecidable, where f([a,b]) denotes the image of [a,b] under f. Of course, f([a,b]) is again a compact interval by continuity.

Lemma 5.14. Let $f: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a computable function. Then f is (α, α) -effective.

Proof. We sketch the argument. It is well-known from recursive analysis that given recursive real numbers $a \leq b$ we can compute indices for recursive real numbers $m \leq M$ such that f([a, b]) = [m, M]. (Note, however, that one cannot in general compute where a maximum or minimum is taken.) It is also well-known and easy to see that the < relation on the recursive reals is semidecidable. It follows that for $[a, b], [c, d] \in \mathcal{R}_c$ the relation

$$f([a,b]) \subseteq [c,d]^{c}$$

is α -semidecidable, and hence that f is (α, α) -effective.

Now assume that $f: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is effective. Thus f is represented by an effective continuous function $\bar{f}: \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}$. By Lemma 5.7 we may assume that $\bar{f}(I) = I_{f(x)}$ whenever I is a total ideal representing x. We shall show that f is computable.

To prove condition (i) let (x_n) be a computable sequence of reals and let (w_{nk}) be an associated computable double sequence of rationals such that $|w_{nk} - x_n| < 2^{-k}$ for each n and k. Then the ideal I_{x_n} is computable, uniformly in n, since it is generated by

$$[w_{nk} - 2^{-k}, w_{nk} + 2^{-k}]$$
 for $k \in \omega$.

By the effectivity of \bar{f} , the ideal $I_{f(x_n)} = \bar{f}(I_{x_n})$ is computable, uniformly in n. Thus, given a number t, we search effectively for $[c, d] \in I_{f(x_n)}$ such that $|d - c| < 2^{-t}$. In this way we obtain a computable double sequece (s_{nt}) by letting

$$s_{nt} = (c+d)/2.$$

Clearly $|s_{nt} - f(x_n)| < 2^{-t}$ for each n and t, so $(f(x_n))$ is a computable sequence.

It remains to prove the existence of a recursive modulus function for f. Suppose we are given positive natural numbers M and N. For each $k \in \omega$, partition [-M, M] into k subintervals

$$[a_{ki}, a_{ki+1}]$$
 $i = 0, \dots, k-1$

of equal length.

Claim. There is k such that for each $i = 0, \ldots, k-1$ there is $[c, d] \in \overline{f}([a_{ki}, a_{ki+1}])$ such that $|d-c| < 2^{-N}$.

Suppose the claim is false for N. Then for each k we choose i_k , $0 \le i_k \le k-1$, such that

$$[c,d] \in \bar{f}([a_{ki_k}, a_{ki_k+1}]) \implies |d-c| \ge 2^{-N}.$$

Choose $x_k \in [a_{ki_k}, a_{ki_k+1}]$. Then, by compactness, the set $\{x_k : k \in \omega\}$ has a limit point x in [-M, M]. Suppose first that $x \neq \pm M$. Choose

 $[c,d] \in I_{f(x)} = \overline{f}(I_x)$ such that $|d-c| < 2^{-N}$. Thus for some $[a,b] \in I_x$, $[c,d] \in \overline{f}([a,b])$. But then there is k sufficiently large so that $[a_{ki_k}, a_{ki_k+1}] \subseteq [a,b]$ and hence

$$[c,d] \in f([a_{ki_k}, a_{ki_k+1}])$$

which is a contradiction. In case x = M we consider the ideal I_x^L , generated by $\{[a, M] : a < M\}$, in place of I_x to obtain a contradiction. The case x = -M is handled similarly, completing the proof of the claim.

Given M and N we compute a number k which witnesses the claim. The computation is performed by an effective search, using the effectivity of \bar{f} . Then we define $d: \omega^2 \to \omega$ by

$$d(M, N) =$$
 least number > $k/2M$.

Thus d is a total recursive function with an index obtained uniformly from an index of \bar{f} .

Suppose $x, y \in [-M, M]$ and |x - y| < 1/d(M, N). Then for the k computed above, |x - y| < 2M/k so there is i such that

$$|x - a_{ki}| < 2M/k$$
 and $|y - a_{ki}| < 2M/k$.

Say, without loss of generality, that $x \in [a_{ki}, a_{ki+1}]$. Then there is $[c, d] \in \overline{f}([a_{ki}, a_{ki+1}])$ such that $|d - c| < 2^{-N}$. It is easy to see that

$$f[[a_{ki}, a_{ki+1}]] \subseteq [c, d]$$

so $|f(x) - f(a_{ki})| < 2^{-N}$. The same holds for y and hence we have

$$|f(x) - f(y)| \le |f(x) - f(a_{ki})| + |f(a_{ki}) - f(y)| < 2^{-N} + 2^{-N} = 2^{-N+1}.$$

We have proved the following theorem.

Theorem 5.15. A function $f: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is computable in the sense of recursive analysis if, and only if, f is effective.

5.3 Metric spaces

Some early analysis of the effective content of metric spaces are Lacombe [25] and Moschovakis [29]. There is also an important constructive analysis of metric spaces in Ceitin [10].

Definition 5.16. A metric space (X, d) is *recursive* in the sense of Moschovakis if

- (i) there is a surjective numbering $\alpha: \Omega_{\alpha} \to X$, where $\Omega_{\alpha} \subseteq \omega$;
- (ii) $d: X \times X \to \mathbb{R}_k$, where \mathbb{R}_k is the set of recursive real numbers; and

(iii) the distance function d is (α, ρ) -computable, where $\rho: \Omega_{\rho} \to \mathbb{R}_k$ is a standard numbering.

This is a very general definition. Its weak point is that calculations with distances are limited to those possible with recursive reals. Nonetheless it is possible to give a weakly effective domain representation to (the completion of) a recursive metric space along the lines given below. We shall not pursue this here.

An alternate definition is possible that strengthens the computability of the space and which is more appropriate for examples.

By an ordered field K we mean a field $K = (K; +, -, \times, 0, 1, \leq)$. The field K is *computable* if there is a numbering of K from ω such that all the operations and the relation \leq (and hence =) are recursive. It is known that if K is a computable ordered field then its real closure is computable as an ordered field (Madison [27]). Furthermore, if K is archimedian then K can be computably embedded into \mathbb{R}_k (Lachlan and Madison [24]).

Definition 5.17. A metric space (X, d) is *computable* if

- (i) there is a numbering $\alpha: \omega \to X$ with decidable equality;
- (ii) $d: X \times X \to K$, for some computable archimedian ordered field K;
- (iii) the distance function d is (α, γ) -computable, where $\gamma: \omega \to K$ is a computable numbering of K.

These two definitions determine two general definitions of effective metric spaces.

Definition 5.18.

- (i) A metric space (X, d) is *weakly effective* if there exists a dense subspace A of X such that (A, d) is recursive in the sense of Moschovakis.
- (ii) A metric space (X, d) is *effective* if there exists a dense subspace A of X such that (A, d) is computable.

The existence of a recursive or computable dense subset A of X allows us to define the *computable elements* of the metric space; these are the elements of X that can be approximated by computable Cauchy sequences of elements from A with computable modulus functions. To define the set X_k of computable elements of X we embed the space X in the metric completion A^* of A. So we may assume that $A \subseteq X \subseteq A^*$. From the numbering $\alpha: \Omega_{\alpha} \to A$ we can construct a canonical numbering $\alpha_k: \Omega_{\alpha_k} \to A_k$ of the set A_k of computable elements in the completion A^* . Then we set $X_k = X \cap A_k$, and give it the numbering α_k restricted to $\alpha_k^{-1}(X_k)$. **Example 5.19.** The majority of examples of interest are effective metric spaces (rather than weakly effective metric spaces), including: (i) the Euclidean spaces \mathbb{R}^n ; (ii) the space C[0,1] of continuous functions $[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ with the sup norm; and (iii) L^p spaces for rational $p \ge 1$.

We now describe how to obtain an effective algebraic domain representation of an effective metric space.

Let (X, d) be a metric space with a dense subset A. A formal closed ball is a "notation" $F_{a,r}$, where $a \in A$ and $r \in \mathbb{Q}_+$, the set of non-negative rational numbers. The formal ball is a name or syntax for a closed ball and we may write it semantically by

$$F_{a,r} = \{x \in X : d(a,x) \le r\}.$$

Two formal balls are *consistent*,

$$F_{a,r} \uparrow F_{b,s}$$
 if $d(a,b) \le r+s$.

We say that $F_{b,s}$ is formally contained in $F_{a,r}$,

$$F_{a,r} \sqsubseteq F_{b,s}$$
 if $d(a,b) + s \le r$.

A set $\{F_{a_1,r_1},\ldots,F_{a_n,r_n}\}$ of formal balls is *permissible* if the balls are pairwise consistent and no ball is contained within another, i.e., for $1 \leq i \leq j \leq n$, $F_{a_i,r_i} \uparrow F_{a_j,r_j}$ and it is not the case that $F_{a_i,r_i} \sqsubseteq F_{a_j,r_j}$ or $F_{a_j,r_j} \sqsubseteq F_{a_i,r_i}$. We use the notation σ, τ for permissible sets.

Let P be the set of all permissible sets of formal balls. We need to extend the relation \sqsubseteq to permissible sets:

$$\sigma \sqsubseteq \tau \iff (\forall F_{a,r} \in \sigma) (\exists F_{b,s} \in \tau) (F_{a,r} \sqsubseteq F_{b,s}).$$

We note that consistency is characterised by

$$\sigma \uparrow \tau \iff (\forall F_{a,r} \in \sigma) (\forall F_{b,s} \in \tau) (F_{a,r} \uparrow F_{b,s}).$$

Given consistent permissible sets σ and τ , the supremum $\sigma \sqcup \tau = g(\sigma, \tau)$ where q removes those formal balls in $\sigma \cup \tau$ properly contained in others.

The following is immediate from the construction above. But note that we need to consider sets of formal balls in order to be able to compute the supremum operation.

Lemma 5.20. If (A, d) is a computable metric space then the obtained structure $P = (P; \sqsubseteq, \uparrow, \sqcup, \bot)$ is a computable cusl with a numbering α obtained from the numbering of A.

We now let $D = \overline{P}$, the ideal completion of P. Thus (D, α) is an effective domain.

An ideal $I \in D$ is converging if for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\{F_{a,r}\} \in I$ such that $r < \varepsilon$. We define $x \in A^*$ to be approximated by the ideal I if $(\forall \sigma \in I)(\forall F_{a,r} \in \sigma)(x \in F_{a,r})$. A convergent ideal I approximates exactly one element x in A^* ; we write $I \to x$. Let $D_X = \{I \in D : I \to x \in X\}$. The function $\nu_X : D_X \to X$ defined by

$$\nu_X(I) = x \Longleftrightarrow I \to x$$

is a quotient mapping. Using this construction one may now verify

Theorem 5.21. Each effective metric space X has an effective domain representation D such that the computable elements X_k obtained from the metric coincides uniformly with the computable elements induced by D, i.e., $X_k = X_{k,D}$.

The situation with computable functions is more difficult. We just state the following theorem which is, essentially, Theorem 3.4.33 in Blanck [3]. It uses Berger's generalisation in [9] of the Kreisel-Lacombe-Shoenfield theorem.

Theorem 5.22. Let X and Y be effective metric spaces. Then there exists a semieffective domain representation D of X consisting of permissible sets of formal balls such that together with a standard effective formal ball representation E of Y, the following are equivalent for any function $f: X_k \to Y_k$:

- (i) the function $f: X_k \to Y_k$ is computable; and
- (ii) there is a continuous extension of f to f: X → Y that is effective with respect to the domain representations D and E of the metric spaces X and Y.

By a semieffective domain we mean one where the consistency relation on the compact elements need not be decidable. The semieffective domain representation in the theorem is obtained by taking the dense part of a standard effective formal ball representation of X.

The implication (i) implies (ii) has a form of Ceitin's Theorem as a corollary.

6 Bifinite domains

A main advantage of domain theory is the ease with which one can build type structures. Thus we know, e.g., that the category of cpos with continuous functions as morphisms is cartesian closed. This means that the cartesian product of finitely many cpos is a cpo and the set of continuous functions between two cpos is a cpo. However, for computability we want to consider subclasses or subcategories of cpos and these are not always cartesian closed. Finite cartesian products are not problematic. The problem is the function space. Thus it is wellknown that the category of algebraic cpos is not cartesian closed, whereas the category of consistently complete algebraic (or continuous) cpos is cartesian closed (Theorem 2.33). We leave as a not completely trivial exercise to construct an algebraic cpo D such that $[D \rightarrow D]$ is not algebraic.

A possible solution would be to restrict oneself to the categories of consistently complete algebraic (or continuous) cpos, and this is often done. There is, however, one important domain construction, the Plotkin power domain described in Section 7, under which the class of consistently complete algebraic cpos is not closed. Fortunately there is a larger subcategory of the algebraic cpos, the bifinite domains, which is cartesian closed and which is also closed under the Plotkin power domain construction. It turns out, as shown by Jung [20], the the category of bifinite domains is a maximal cartesian closed subcategory of the algebraic cpos. When restricting to the category of countably based algebraic cpos, then the countably based bifinite domains make up the largest cartesian closed subcategory, i.e. it contains all other cartesian closed subcategories (see Smyth [37]). A countably based bifinite domain is also called an *sfp*-object, indicating that it is the limit of a sequence of finite partial orders.

This section closely follows the presentation given in Hamrin [19].

6.1 Basic definitions

To motivate our definition let $(P; \sqsubseteq)$ be a partial order and let us consider \sqsubseteq as an information ordering. Suppose $A \subseteq P$. When is A sufficiently well-structured so that A contains witnesses to all the consistent pieces of information in A?

Definition 6.1. Let $(P; \sqsubseteq, \bot)$ be a partial order with a least element.

(i) $B \subseteq P$ is a complete set (in P) if

$$(\forall C \subseteq B)(\forall x \sqsupseteq C)(\exists b \in B)(C \sqsubseteq b \sqsubseteq x).$$

(ii) A family $\mathcal{F} = \{B_i : i \in I\}$ of finite subsets of P is a *complete cover* of P if each B_i is complete and for each $A \subseteq_f^* P$ there is $i \in I$ such that $A \subseteq B_i$.

As usual, $C \sqsubseteq b$ means $(\forall c \in C)(c \sqsubseteq b)$ and $A \subseteq_f^* B$ means that A is a nonempty finite subset of B. Note that if B is complete then $\bot \in B$.

The following immediate observation is crucial.

Lemma 6.2. Suppose $A \subseteq P$ is a finite non-empty complete set and let $x \in P$. If $A \cap \downarrow x \neq \emptyset$ then $\max(A \cap \downarrow x)$ exists and is a member of A.

What we require of a bifinite domain is that each finite subset of compact elements be *covered* by a finite complete set of compact elements.

Definition 6.3. D is a *bifinite domain* if D is an algebraic cpo and D_c has a complete cover.

By the algebraicity of a bifinite domain D the covering property holds for each $x \in D$.

For a partial order $(P; \sqsubseteq)$ and $A \in \mathcal{P}_f^*(P)$ we let $\operatorname{mub}(A)$ be the set of minimal upper bounds of A.

Suppose D is a bifinite domain. Then for each $A \in \mathcal{P}_{f}^{*}(D_{c})$ there is a finite complete set $B \supseteq A$. Clearly this set contains $\operatorname{mub}(A)$ so $\operatorname{mub}(A)$ is finite. (Why is $\operatorname{mub}(A) \subseteq D_{c}$?) Furthermore, if $A \sqsubseteq x$ then there is $a \in \operatorname{mub}(A)$ such that $A \sqsubseteq a \sqsubseteq x$, again since B is complete. Now we iterate the mub operation as follows:

- (i) $\operatorname{mub}^0(A) = \operatorname{mub}(A)$.
- (ii) $\operatorname{mub}^{n+1}(A) = \bigcup \{ \operatorname{mub}(C) : C \in \mathcal{P}_f(\operatorname{mub}^n(A)) \}.$

And then we set $mc(A) = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} mub^n(A)$.

Note that each $\operatorname{mub}^n(A) \subseteq B$ and hence $\operatorname{mc}(A)$ is finite. In addition $\operatorname{mc}(A)$ is complete. For if $C \subseteq \operatorname{mc}(A)$ then $C \subseteq \operatorname{mub}^n(A)$ for some n and hence for each $x \supseteq C$ there is $a \in \operatorname{mub}^{n+1}(A)$ which witnesses the completeness.

Proposition 6.4. Let D be a bifinite domain. Then $\mathcal{F} = \{\operatorname{mc}(A) : A \in \mathcal{P}_f^*(D_c)\}$ is a complete cover of D_c . Furthermore $\operatorname{mc}(A)$ is the least complete set containing $A \subseteq_f^* D_c$, so \mathcal{F} is the finest complete cover of D_c .

Remark 6.5. A consistently complete algebraic cpo D is bifinite. For if $A \in \mathcal{P}_{f}^{*}(D_{c})$ then $\operatorname{mc}(A) = \operatorname{mub}^{1}(A) = \{ \bigsqcup B : B \subseteq A \}.$

Exercise 6.6. Give an example of a bifinite domain which is not consistently complete.

There is an equivalent characterisation of bifinite domains in terms of finite projections.

Definition 6.7. Let D be a cpo. A continuous function $p: D \to D$ is a *projection* if $p \sqsubseteq id_D$ and p is idempotent. A projection p is *finite* if its image im(p) is finite.

We leave the following lemma as an exercise.

Lemma 6.8. Let p and q be finite projections on a cpo D. Then

- (i) $p \sqsubseteq_{[D \to D]} q \iff \operatorname{im}(p) \subseteq \operatorname{im}(q);$
- (ii) $\operatorname{im}(p) \subseteq D_c$;
- (iii) $p \in [D \to D]_c$.

Here is the characterisation in terms of finite projections.

Proposition 6.9. Let D be a cpo. Then D is a bifinite domain if, and only if, there exists a directed family $(p_i)_{i \in I}$ of finite projections such that

$$\bigsqcup_{i\in I} p_i = \mathrm{id}_D.$$

Proof. For the only if direction let \mathcal{F} be a complete cover of D_c and define, for $A \in \mathcal{F}$,

$$p_A(x) = \bigsqcup \{ a \in A : a \sqsubseteq x \}.$$

Then the conclusion holds for $(p_A)_{A \in \mathcal{F}}$.

For the converse let $\mathcal{F} = \{ \operatorname{im}(p_i) : i \in I \}$. The algebraicity of D follows from Lemma 6.8.

We now show that the function space between bifinite domains is bifinite. There are several ways to do this. Let us first sketch the result using finite projections.

Theorem 6.10. Let D and E be bifinite domains. Then $[D \rightarrow E]$ is a bifinite domain.

Proof. Let $(p_i)_{i \in I}$ and $(q_j)_{j \in J}$ be families of finite projections witnessing that D and E are bifinite. For $(i, j) \in I \times J$ define $F_{ij}: [D \to E] \to [D \to E]$ by $F_{ij}(h) = q_j \circ h \circ p_i$. It is routine to verify that F_{ij} is continuous and idempotent and that $\bigsqcup_{ij} F_{ij} = \operatorname{id}_{[D \to E]}$. The image $\operatorname{im}(F_{ij})$ is finite since it is determined by $\operatorname{im}(q_j)$ and $\operatorname{im}(p_i)$, which are finite by assumption.

In order to consider the effectivity of a function space $[D \to E]$ of bifinite domains D and E we need a finitary characterisation of the compact elements in $[D \to E]$ in terms of the compact elements in D and E.

Definition 6.11. Let D and E be bifinite domains.

(i) A non-empty finite set

$$\{(a_i, b_i) : i \in I\} \subseteq_f^* D_c \times E_c$$

is said to be *joinable* if the set $\{a_i : i \in I\}$ is complete and $a_i \sqsubseteq a_j \implies b_i \sqsubseteq b_j$.

(ii) Suppose $u = \{(a_i, b_i) : i \in I\}$ is joinable and let $A = \{a_i : i \in I\}$. Then $s_u: [D \to E] \to [D \to E]$ is defined by

$$s_u(x) = b_i \iff a_i = \max(A \cap \downarrow x).$$

Note that s_u is well defined by Lemma 6.2 since $A \cap \downarrow x \neq \emptyset$ for each x.

Lemma 6.12. Let D and E be bifinite domains and let u be joinable.

- (i) s_u is continuous.
- (ii) $s_u = \bigsqcup \{ \langle a; b \rangle : (a, b) \in u \}.$
- (iii) $[D \to E]_c = \{s_u : u \subseteq D_c \times E_c, u \text{ joinable}\}.$

Proof. (i) and (ii) are routine given Lemma 6.2. To show (iii) we first note that each step function $\langle a; b \rangle$ is compact and hence by (ii) that s_u is compact when u is joinable. Now suppose $f \in [D \to E]_c$. By the argument of Proposition 2.30,

$$f = \bigsqcup \{ \langle a; b \rangle : \langle a, b \rangle \sqsubseteq f, a \in D_c, b \in E_c \}.$$

Consider a finite set $\{(a_i, b_i) : i \in I\}$ such that each $\langle a_i, b_i \rangle \sqsubseteq f$. Let $A = \{a_i : i \in I\}$ and $B = \{b_i : i \in I\}$ and let $\overline{A} \supseteq A$ and $\overline{B} \supseteq B$ be finite complete sets of compact elements. For each $a \in \overline{A}$ let $b_a = \max(\overline{B} \cap \downarrow f(a))$ and let $u = \{(a, b_a) : a \in \overline{A}\}$.

Clearly s_u is joinable. For suppose $a_1, a_2 \in \overline{A}$ and $a_1 \sqsubseteq a_2$. Then $f(a_1) \sqsubseteq f(a_2)$ and hence $b_{a_1} \sqsubseteq b_{a_2}$. Furthermore $\langle a; b \rangle \sqsubseteq f$ for $(a, b) \in u$, since then $b \leq f(a)$. By (ii) we then have $s_u \sqsubseteq f$.

By an analogous argument we see that the set

$$\{s_u : s_u \sqsubseteq f \text{ and } s_u \text{ joinable}\}\$$

is directed and its supremum is f. It follows that $f = s_u$ for some joinable u since f is compact.

Remark 6.13. It is easily seen from the above proof that it suffices to consider the joinable sets obtained from a complete cover of D_c in order to obtain all of $[D \to E]_c$.

6.2 Effective bifinite domains

We shall briefly consider a notion of effective bifinite domains. It should be an extension of the effectivity of consistently complete algebraic cpos. We shall simply effectivise our definition of a bifinite domain.

Suppose $\alpha: \omega \to A$ is a numbering of a set A. Then let $\alpha^*: \omega \to \mathcal{P}_f^*(A)$ be the numbering defined by $\alpha^*(e) = \alpha[K_e]$, where $K_e \subseteq \omega$ is the non-empty finite subset with canonical index e.

Definition 6.14. A bifinite domain D is an effective bifinite domain if there is a numbering $\alpha: \omega \to D_c$ such that

- (i) the relation $\alpha(n) \sqsubseteq \alpha(m)$ is recursive, i.e. \sqsubseteq is α -decidable, and
- (ii) there is a complete cover \mathcal{F} of D_c such that \mathcal{F} is α^* -decidable.

We leave the following as an exercise.

Proposition 6.15. Let D be a bifinite domain and let α be a numbering of D_c such that \sqsubseteq is α -decidable. Then (D, α) is an effective bifinite dumain if, and only if, mub: $\mathcal{P}_f^*(D_c) \to \mathcal{P}_f^*(D_c)$ is (α^*, α^*) -computable.

Let (D, α) be an effective bifinite domain. Then by the above we get that mubⁿ is (α^*, α^*) -computable for each n, uniformly in n. It follows that mc is (α^*, α^*) -computable since mc $(A) = \text{mub}^n(A)$ where n is such that $\text{mub}^n(A) = \text{mub}^{n+1}(A)$. Thus we can also conclude that the relation "A is complete" for $A \in \mathcal{P}_f^*(D_c)$ is α^* -decidable, since

A is complete $\iff mc(A) = A$.

Proposition 6.16. Let (D, α) be an effective bifinite domain. Then

- (i) mc: $\mathcal{P}_{f}^{*}(D_{c}) \to \mathcal{P}_{f}^{*}(D_{c})$ is (α^{*}, α^{*}) -computable;
- (ii) The relation "A is complete" is α^* -decidable.

The category of effective bifinite domains is cartesian closed.

Theorem 6.17. Let (D, α) and (E, β) be effective bifinite domains. Then $[D \rightarrow E]$ is an effective bifinite domain with a numbering obtained uniformly from α and β .

Proof. From an α^* -decidable complete cover \mathcal{F} of D_c we obtain (by Remark 6.13) an $(\alpha \times \beta)^*$ -decidable family $\mathcal{U} \subseteq D_c \times E_c$ of joinable sets such that

$$[D \to E]_c = \{s_u : u \in \mathcal{U}\}$$

Thus we obtain in a standard way a numbering $\gamma: \omega \to [D \to E]_c$, uniformly from α , β and \mathcal{F} . The relation \sqsubseteq on $[D \to E]_c$ is γ -decidable since

$$s_u \sqsubseteq s_v \iff (\forall (a,b) \in u) (b = \bot_E \lor (\exists (c,d) \in v) (c \sqsubseteq a \land b \sqsubseteq d)).$$

We are to construct a γ^* -decidable complete cover of $[D \to E]_c$. Let \mathcal{G} be a β^* -decidable complete cover of E_c . Then, using the notation in the proof of Proposition 6.9, $(p_A)_{A \in \mathcal{F}}$ and $(q_B)_{B \in \mathcal{G}}$ are directed families of projections witnessing that D and E are bifinite. Using the notation and proof of Theorem 6.10 it suffices, by Proposition 6.9, to show that the family

$$\{\operatorname{im}(F_{AB}): A \in \mathcal{F}, B \in \mathcal{G}\}$$

is γ^* -decidable. For this it suffices to show that for all u joinable with respect to \mathcal{F} ,

 $s_u \in \operatorname{im}(F_{AB}) \iff (\exists v \subseteq A \times B)(v \text{ joinable } \wedge \pi_0(v) = A \wedge s_u = s_v),$

where π_0 is the first projection function.

We leave the straight forward proof of the "if" direction as an exercise. To prove the "only if" direction let $s_u \in \operatorname{im}(F_{AB})$ where $u = \{(c, d_c) : c \in C\}$ is joinable and $C \in \mathcal{F}$. For $a \in A$ let $c_a = \max(C \cap \downarrow a) \in C$. Note that $a \sqsubseteq a' \implies c_a \sqsubseteq c_{a'}$ and hence $d_{c_a} \sqsubseteq d_{c_{a'}}$. Thus the set $v = \{(a, d_{c_a}) : a \in A\}$ is joinable. For $(a, d_{c_a}) \in v$ we have

$$d_{c_a} = \langle c_a; d_{c_a} \rangle(a) \sqsubseteq s_u(a)$$

and hence $s_v \sqsubseteq s_u$.

For $c \in C$ let $c_A = \max(C \cap \downarrow p_A(c))$. We have for $c \in C$,

$$F_{AB}(s_u)(c) = q_B s_u p_A(c)$$

= $q_B \langle c_A; d_{c_A} \rangle p_A(c)$
= $q_B(d_{c_A}).$

But $F_{AB}(s_u)(c) = s_u(c) = d_c$ and hence $d_c = q_B(d_{c_A}) \sqsubseteq d_{c_A}$. But $c_A \sqsubseteq c$ so $d_{c_A} \sqsubseteq d_c$, that is equality holds. In particular $d_c \in B$ and hence $v \subseteq A \times B$.

To prove $s_u \sqsubseteq s_v$ let $(c, d_c) \in u$. Then $c_A \sqsubseteq p_A(c) \sqsubseteq c$ and, in fact, $c_A = c_{p_A(c)}$. From the above, $d_c = d_{c_A}$, and hence

$$d_c \sqsubseteq \langle p_A(c); d_{c_A} \rangle(c) \sqsubseteq s_v(c)$$

which proves that $s_u \sqsubseteq s_v$.

7 Power domains

Power domains were introduced by Plotkin [33] in order to give a semantics for finitely branching non-deterministic or parallel programs. Assume that each run or possible outcome of a class of non-deterministic programs has an interpretation in a fixed domain D. Then an interpretation of a nondeterministic program in this class would be the *set* of interpretations of all possible outcomes of the program. Thus an appropriate domain to interpret this class of non-deterministic programs should be something analogous to the power set of D, the *power domain* of D.

For simplicity we will in this section restrict ourselves to algebraic cpos. We will define three types of power domains of which the Plotkin power domain (also called the convex power domain) is the most important.

For a set S we let

$$\mathcal{P}_f^*(S) = \{ A \subseteq S : A \text{ finite and } A \neq \emptyset \}.$$

Definition 7.1. Let S be a preordered set under \sqsubseteq and let \mathcal{F} be a family of non-empty subsets of \mathcal{F} . Let A and B be in \mathcal{F} .

- (i) $A \sqsubseteq_l B \iff (\forall a \in A) (\exists b \in B) (a \sqsubseteq b).$
- (ii) $A \sqsubseteq_u B \iff (\forall b \in B) (\exists a \in A) (a \sqsubseteq b).$
- (iii) $A \sqsubseteq_{EM} B \iff A \sqsubseteq_l B$ and $A \sqsubseteq_u B$.

The relations defined above are clearly preorders on \mathcal{F} . The preorder \sqsubseteq_{EM} is known as the *Eqli-Milner* ordering.

Definition 7.2. Let D be an algebraic cpo.

- (i) The lower or Hoare power domain $\mathcal{P}_l(D)$ of D is the ideal completion of $(\mathcal{P}_f^*(D_c), \sqsubseteq_l)$.
- (ii) The upper or Smyth power domain $\mathcal{P}_u(D)$ of D is the ideal completion of $(\mathcal{P}_f^*(D_c), \sqsubseteq_u)$.
- (iii) The Plotkin power domain $\mathcal{P}_P(D)$ of D is the ideal completion of $(\mathcal{P}_f^*(D_c), \sqsubseteq_{EM}).$

Thus the power domains of algebraic cpos are algebraic cpos whose compact elements are determined by the elements in $\mathcal{P}_{f}^{*}(D_{c})$.

The upper power domain is discussed in Smyth [36].

Similar definitions are made for a continuous domain D by considering the ideal completion of (B, \ll) , where \ll is the way below relation on a basis B for D.

The following proposition is straight forward.

Proposition 7.3. Let (S, \sqsubseteq) be a preordered set and let A and B be nonempty subsets of S.

- (i) $A \sqsubseteq_l B \iff \downarrow A \sqsubseteq_l B$.
- (ii) $A \sqsubseteq_l B \iff \downarrow A \subseteq \downarrow B$.
- (iii) $A \sqsubseteq_u B \iff A \sqsubseteq_u \uparrow B$.
- (iv) $A \sqsubseteq_u B \iff \uparrow B \subseteq \uparrow A$.

In particular it follows that $A \sim_l \downarrow A$ and $A \sim_u \uparrow A$, where, as usual, $A \sim B$ means $A \sqsubseteq B$ and $B \sqsubseteq A$.

Exercise 7.4. Determine $\mathcal{P}_l(\mathbb{N}_{\perp})$ and $\mathcal{P}_u(\mathbb{N}_{\perp})$.

Proposition 7.5. Let D be an algebraic cpo.

- (i) $\mathcal{P}_l(D)$ is consistently complete.
- (ii) If D is bifinite then $\mathcal{P}_u(D)$ is consistently complete.

Proof. Given $A, B \in \mathcal{P}_{f}^{*}(D_{c})$ it is clear that $[A]_{l} \sqcup [B]_{l} = [A \cup B]_{l}$, where $[A]_{l}$ denotes the compact ideal in $\mathcal{P}_{l}(D)$ determined by A. This proves (i). For (ii) let

$$C = \bigcup \{ \text{mub}(a, b) : a \in A, b \in B, \text{ and } a, b \text{ consistent} \}.$$

If A and B are consistent then $C \neq \emptyset$. Furthermore C is finite since D is assumed bifinite. It is now straight forward to see that $[A]_u \sqcup [B]_u = [C]_u$. \Box

In particular consistent completeness is preserved by the upper and lower power domain constructions. However, this is not true for the Plotkin power domain construction.

Exercise 7.6. Let D be the four element diamond lattice and let $E = D \times D$. Then E is consistently complete. Show that $\mathcal{P}_P(E)$ is not consistently complete.

The bifinite domains are preserved under the Plotkin power domain construction.

Theorem 7.7. If D is a bifinite domain then so is $\mathcal{P}_P(D)$.

Proof. Let $(p_i)_{i \in I}$ be a directed family of finite projections on D such that

$$\bigsqcup_{i\in I} p_i = \mathrm{id}_D$$

Define $\bar{p}_i: \mathcal{P}_P(D) \to \mathcal{P}_P(D)$ by, for $\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\} \in \mathcal{P}_f^*(D_c)$,

$$\bar{p}_i(\downarrow\{a_1,\ldots,a_n\}) = \downarrow\{p_i(a_1),\ldots,p_i(a_n)\}.$$

It is routine to verify that $(\bar{p}_i)_{i \in I}$ is a well-defined directed family of finite projections on $\mathcal{P}_P(D)$ such that $\bigsqcup_{i \in I} \bar{p}_i = \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{P}_P(D)}$.

The Plotkin power domain is also called the *convex* power domain for the following reason. Suppose (P, \sqsubseteq) is a preorder. For $A \subseteq P$ let

$$\operatorname{cvx}_P(A) = \{ p \in P : (\exists q, r \in A) (q \sqsubseteq p \sqsubseteq r) \},\$$

the convex hull of A in P. A set $A \subseteq P$ is said to be convex if $cvx_P(A) = A$. For subsets A and B it is easily verified that

$$A \sim_{EM} B \iff \operatorname{cvx}_P(A) = \operatorname{cvx}_P(B)$$

Proposition 7.8. Let D be an algebraic cpo and let $C(D_c) = \{ \operatorname{cvx}_{D_c}(A) : A \in \mathcal{P}_f^*(D_c) \}$. Then the Plotkin power domain $\mathcal{P}_P(D)$ is isomorphic to the ideal completion of $(C(D_c), \sqsubseteq_{EM})$.

The Plotkin power domain construction preserves effective bifinite domains, uniformly.

Theorem 7.9. Let (D, α) be an effective bifinite domain. Then the Plotkin power domain $\mathcal{P}_P(D)$ is an effective bifinite domain with a numbering obtained uniformly from α .

Proof. The set of compact elements $\mathcal{P}_P(D)_c$ is numbered by $\alpha^*: \omega \to \mathcal{P}_f^*(D_c)$, the canonical numbering obtained from α . The order relation \sqsubseteq on $\mathcal{P}_P(D)_c$ is clearly α^* -decidable using the α -decidable ordering of D_c .

Let \mathcal{F} be a complete cover of D_c . We claim that

$$\mathcal{G} = \{\mathcal{P}_f^*(A) : A \in \mathcal{F}\}$$

is a complete cover of $\mathcal{P}_P(D)_c$. (Here we work on representations of the elements in $\mathcal{P}_P(D)_c$.) Note that \mathcal{G} is obviously α^{**} -decidable. For $A \in \mathcal{F}$ and $C \subseteq_f^* D_c$ let

$$B_C = \{ \max(A \cap \downarrow c) : c \in C \}.$$

Then $B_C \subseteq A$ since A is complete. Furthermore $B_C = \max(\mathcal{P}_f^*(A) \cap \downarrow C)$ and hence $\mathcal{P}^*(A)$ is complete in $\mathcal{P}_P(D)$. To see that \mathcal{G} is a complete cover suppose $B_1, \ldots, B_k \subseteq_f^* D_c$. Then choose $A \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $\bigcup_{i=1}^k B_i \subseteq A$. \Box

The Plotkin power domain construction has been used by Edalat [11, 12] and Blanck [6] to study computability of compact subsets of metric spaces and iterated function systems on metric spaces.

We just cite a few results in order to illustrate the use of the Plotkin power domain in relation to domain representability.

Theorem 7.10. (Blanck [6]) Let (D, D^R, ν) be a standard effective domain representation of a complete effective metric space X and let $E = \mathcal{P}_P(D)$. Then there is $E^R \subseteq E$ and μ such that (E, E^R, μ) is an effective domain representation of $\mathcal{H}(X)$, the set of compact subsets of X.

The topology induced on $\mathcal{H}(X)$ is the one given by the Hausdorff metric on $\mathcal{H}(X)$. Recall that the Hausdorff metric d_H on $\mathcal{H}(X)$ is given by

$$d_H(K,K') = \max(\sup_{x \in K} d(x,K'), \sup_{y \in K'} d(y,K)),$$

where $d(x, K) = \inf_{y \in K} d(x, y)$ and d is the metric on X.

To get a feeling for the Plotkin power domain construction in terms of domain representability the reader should consider the standard interval domain for the real numbers and take the Plotkin power domain of it. Then construct an ideal which represents the Cantor set.

An application area of this theory is that of Iterated Function Systems (IFS).

Theorem 7.11. (Blanck [6]) An effective hyperbolic IFS on an effective complete metric space has a unique effective non-empty compact attractor.

8 Representation of non-continuous functions

There are important phenomena in computing that are not continuous. Suppose we model a *stream* of data as a function from time into a set of data. Let us think of time as being continuous. Then it is reasonable to model time by the real number line \mathbb{R} or a final segment of \mathbb{R} . If the data set is discrete, i.e., has the discrete topology, then the only continuous functions or streams are the constant functions. The reason is that the reals \mathbb{R} is a connected space. (Streams that takes values in a discrete data set are sometimes called *signals*.) Thus, in order to represent such a stream space, or a space of signals, by a function space domain, we need a way to represent a non-continuous function by a continuous function between domains. We know by Proposition 3.5 that this is impossible. We have to settle for representing non-continuous functions *approximately*. For a discussion of streams, stream transformers and domain representations see Blanck, Stoltenberg-Hansen and Tucker [7].

Another example is that of solid geometry. Suppose we want to represent a solid body in space. If the space is modelled by \mathbb{R}^n , which is usual, then the solid body is modelled by a function $f:\mathbb{R}^n \to \{0,1\}$, where f(x) = 0if x is in the solid body and f(x) = 1 otherwise. That is, a solid body is represented by its characteristic function. Again we meet the problem that no such function is continuous and hence cannot be represented exactly. For a discussion of modelling solid geometry see Edalat and Lieutier [14] and of constructive volume geometry see Blanck, Stoltenberg-Hansen and Tucker [8].

An analogous problem is how to represent a relation on a topological space. A canonical example is the space of real numbers \mathbb{R} . How do we represent the \leq relation?

Let X be a topological space and let $\mathbb{B} = \{\text{true}, \text{false}\}\$ be the discrete boolean space. An *n*-ary relation P on X can be identified with its *characteristic function* $c_P: X \to \mathbb{B}$ defined by

$$c_P(a_1,\ldots,a_n) = \begin{cases} \text{true,} & \text{if } P(a_1,\ldots,a_n);\\ \text{false,} & \text{if } \neg P(a_1,\ldots,a_n). \end{cases}$$

The idea is to represent the possibly non-continuous characteristic function continuously in such a way that it gives exact values at points of continuity and possibly only proper approximations at points of discontinuity. We know that this is the best possible.

Let (D, D^R, ν) be a domain representation of X and let P be an n-ary relation on X. Define $\bar{c}_P : D_c^n \to \mathbb{B}_\perp$ by

$$\bar{c}_P(\vec{a}) = \begin{cases} \text{true,} & \text{if } (\forall \vec{x} \in (D^R)^n) (\vec{a} \sqsubseteq \vec{x} \implies P(\nu(\vec{x}))); \\ \text{false,} & \text{if } (\forall \vec{x} \in (D^R)^n) (\vec{a} \sqsubseteq \vec{x} \implies \neg P(\nu(\vec{x}))); \\ \bot, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

 \bar{c}_P is clearly monotone and hence extends uniquely to a continuous function

$$\bar{c}_P: D^n \to \mathbb{B}_\perp$$

We say that \bar{c}_P represents c_P or P approximately.

Example 8.1. Consider the standard interval representation \mathcal{R} of the reals \mathbb{R} (Example 3.31), and the relation \leq on \mathbb{R} . Then

$$\bar{c}_{\leq}([a,b],[c,d]) = \begin{cases} \text{true,} & \text{if } b \leq c;\\ \text{false,} & \text{if } d < a;\\ \bot, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Note that \bar{c}_{\leq} is effective. If x < y in \mathbb{R} then $\bar{c}_{\leq}(I_x, I_y) =$ true and if y < x in \mathbb{R} then $\bar{c}_{\leq}(I_x, I_y) =$ false. In case x = y then $\bar{c}_{\leq}(I_x, I_x) = \bot$.

The function $c_{\leq}: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{B}$ is continuous on

$$\{(x,y): x \neq y\} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2,$$

and discontinuous on the diagonal. Thus \bar{c}_{\leq} represents c_{\leq} exactly on points of continuity. At points of discontinuity \bar{c}_{\leq} only provides the trivial approximation of the value of c_{\leq} .

It is well-known that \leq is not decidable or even semidecidable on the recursive reals \mathbb{R}_k , the problem being that equality on \mathbb{R}_k is not semidecidable. (Equality is cosemidecidable, i.e., \neq is semidecidable.) This is reflected by the discontinuity of c_{\leq} .

We now want to generalise the continuous representation of relations to continuous representations of non-continuous functions. The idea is the same. We want our representation to be exact at points of continuity and as good as possible in terms of approximations at points of discontinuity. Here is the definition.

Definition 8.2. Let (D, D^R, ν_X) and (E, E^R, ν_Y) be domain representations of the topological spaces X and Y, respectively. Then a function $f: X \to Y$ (not necessarily continuous) is said to be *represented approxi*mately by (or lifts approximately to) $\bar{f}: D \to E$ if

- (i) \bar{f} is continuous,
- (ii) $(\forall x \in D^R)(f \text{ continuous at } \nu_X(x) \implies \bar{f}(x) \in E^R \text{ and } f\nu_X(x) = \nu_Y \bar{f}(x))$, and
- (iii) $(\forall x \in D^R)(f \text{ not continuous at } \nu_X(x) \implies (\exists y \in \nu_Y^{-1}[f\nu_X(x)])(\bar{f}(x) \sqsubseteq y)).$

The following example illustrates the notion above.

Example 8.3. The floor function $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{Z}$ is discontinuous at precisely the integer points. We shall represent the floor function by a continuous domain function in the above precise sense.

Let \mathcal{R} be the standard interval domain representation of \mathbb{R} . We could choose \mathbb{Z}_{\perp} as a representation of \mathbb{Z} and proceed as in the case of representing relations. However we can do much better if we choose a domain representation with more care. Let $E = \mathcal{P}_u(\mathbb{Z}_{\perp})$, the upper (or Smyth) power domain of \mathbb{Z}_{\perp} . By Exercise 7.4, E can be identified with $\mathcal{P}_f^*(\mathbb{Z}) \cup \{\mathbb{Z}\}$ ordered by reverse inclusion \supseteq . Thus the singleton sets $\{n\}$, for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, are the maximal elements. Letting E^R be the set of maximal elements we obtain a domain representation of \mathbb{Z} .

Define $f: \mathcal{R}_c \to E$ by

$$f([a,b]) = \{m \in \mathbb{Z} : \lfloor a \rfloor \le m \le \lfloor b \rfloor\}$$

and $f(\mathbb{R}) = \mathbb{Z}$ (i.e., f is strict). Clearly, f is monotone and hence extends uniquely to a continuous function $f: \mathcal{R} \to E$.

Let $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and let $I_x \in \mathcal{R}^R$ be the smallest ideal representing x. If x is not an integer then $f(I_x) = \{\lfloor x \rfloor\}$. Thus f represents the floor function exactly for all points of continuity. Now consider an integer m. Recall the four different representations of m described in Example 3.31. It is easily seen that

$$\begin{aligned} f(I_m) &= & \{m-1,m\}, \\ f(I_m^-) &= & \{m-1,m\}, \\ f(I_m^+) &= & \{m\}, \text{ and } \\ f(I^m) &= & \{m\}. \end{aligned}$$

It follows that f represents the floor function approximately in the sense of Definition 8.2. However, thanks to our choice of representation for \mathbb{Z} we are able to obtain much information also at points of discontinuity. This illustrates the importance of choosing appropriate representations of the data types. Had we chosen \mathbb{Z}_{\perp} to represent \mathbb{Z} then the representation of the floor function would provide no information at points of discontinuity.

We close this section by showing that, under rather general conditions, there is a best continuous approximate representation of an arbitrary function, if there is one at all.

Theorem 8.4. Let (D, D^R, ν_X) and (E, E^R, ν_Y) be domain representations of X and Y, respectively. Assume that D^R is dense in D, and that (E, E^R, ν_Y) is upwards closed and local. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a function and assume that f has one approximate representation in $[D \to E]$. Then there is a best approximate representation $\overline{f} \in [D \to E]$ in the sense of the domain ordering. Proof. Let $\mathcal{A}_f = \{\bar{f} \in [D \to E]: \bar{f} \text{ represents } f \text{ approximately}\}$. We show that \mathcal{A}_f is directed. $\mathcal{A}_f \neq \emptyset$ by assumption. Suppose $\bar{f}_1, \bar{f}_2 \in \mathcal{A}_f$. We first show that \bar{f}_1 and \bar{f}_2 are consistent. For this it suffices by the density of D^R to show that $\bar{f}_1(x)$ and $\bar{f}_2(x)$ are consistent for each $x \in D^R$.

Fix $x \in D^{\overline{R}}$ and assume f is continuous at $\nu_X(x)$. Thus $\overline{f}_1(x), \overline{f}_2(x) \in E^R$ and

$$\nu_Y(\bar{f}_1(x)) = \nu_Y(\bar{f}_2(x)) = f(\nu_X(x)).$$

But by the hypotheses on (E, E^R, ν_Y) the supremum $\overline{f}_1(x) \sqcup \overline{f}_2(x)$ exists and

$$\nu_Y(\bar{f}_1(x) \sqcup \bar{f}_2(x)) = f(\nu_X(x)).$$

Now assume f is discontinuous at $\nu_X(x)$. Then there are $y_1, y_2 \in E^R$ such that $\nu_Y(y_1) = \nu_Y(y_2) = f(\nu_X(x))$ and $\bar{f}_1(x) \sqsubseteq y_1$ and $\bar{f}_2(x) \sqsubseteq y_2$. Again, by the assumptions on (E, E^R, ν_Y) ,

$$\bar{f}_1(x) \sqcup \bar{f}_2(x) \sqsubseteq y_1 \sqcup y_2 \in E^R$$

and $\nu(y_1 \sqcup y_2) = f(\nu_X(x))$. We conclude that \bar{f}_1 and \bar{f}_2 are consistent and $\bar{f}_1 \sqcup \bar{f}_2 \in \mathcal{A}_f$, that is, \mathcal{A}_f is directed.

Let $\overline{f} = \bigsqcup \mathcal{A}_f$. We need to show that $\overline{f} \in \mathcal{A}_f$. Let $x \in D^R$ be such that f is continuous at $\nu_X(x)$ and let $\overline{g} \in \mathcal{A}_f$. Then $\overline{g}(x) \sqsubseteq \overline{f}(x)$ and $\overline{g}(x) \in E^R$ so $\overline{f}(x) \in E^R$ and

$$\nu_Y(\bar{f}(x)) = \nu_Y(\bar{g}(x)) = f(\nu_X(x)).$$

Now suppose f is discontinuous at $\nu_X(x)$. Let $\bar{y} \in E^R$ be the maximal element such that $\nu_Y(\bar{y}) = f(\nu_X(x))$. The assumptions on (E, E^R, ν_Y) imply that such \bar{y} exists. Thus $\bar{g}(x) \sqsubseteq \bar{y}$ and hence

$$\bar{f}(x) = \bigsqcup\{\bar{g}(x) : \bar{g} \in \mathcal{A}_f\} \sqsubseteq \bar{y},$$

proving that $\bar{f} \in \mathcal{A}_f$.

References

- S. ABRAMSKY AND A. JUNG, Domain theory, in *Handbook of Logic in Computer Science*, volume 3, (S. Abramsky, D. Gabbay, and T. S. E. Maibaum, editors), Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1995, 1 168.
- [2] R. M. AMADIO AND P-L CURIEN, *Domains and Lambda-Calculi*, Cambridge Tracts in Theoretical Computer Science vol. 46, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998.
- [3] J. BLANCK, Computability on topological spaces by effective domain representations, Uppsala Dissertations in Mathematics, vol. 7, 1997.

- [4] J. BLANCK, Domain representability of metric spaces, Annals of Pure and Applied Logic 83 (1997), 225 – 247.
- [5] J. BLANCK, Domain representations of topological spaces, *Electronic Notes in Theoretical Computer Science* 13 (1998).
- [6] J. BLANCK, Effective domain representation of $\mathcal{H}(X)$, the space of compact subsets, *Theoretical Computer Science* 219 (1999), 19 48.
- J. BLANCK, V. STOLTENBERG-HANSEN AND J. V. TUCKER, Streams, stream transformers and domain representations, in *Prospects for Hardware Foundations*, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, volume 1546, (B. Moller, J. V. Tucker editors), Springer Verlag, 1998, 27 – 68.
- [8] J. BLANCK, V. STOLTENBERG-HANSEN AND J. V. TUCKER, Domain representations of partial functions, with applications to spatial objects and constructive volume geometry, *Theoretical Computer Science*, to appear.
- [9] U. BERGER, Total sets and objects in domain theory, Annals of Pure and Applied Logic 60 (1993), 91 – 117.
- [10] G. S. CEITIN, Algorithmic operators in constructive complete separable metric spaces, *Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR* 128, 49 – 52, 1959.
- [11] A. EDALAT, Dynamical systems, measures, and fractals via domain theory, *Information and Computation* 120 (1995), 32 – 48.
- [12] A. EDALAT, Power domains and iterated function systems, Information and Computation 124 (1996), 182 – 197.
- [13] A. EDALAT, Domains for computation in mathematics, physics and exact real arithmetic, *Bulletin of Symbolic Logic* 3 (1997), 401 – 452.
- [14] A. EDALAT AND A, LIEUTIER, Foundations of a computable solid modelling, in *Proceedings of ACM's Symposium on Solid Modelling '99*, ACM, 1999.
- [15] YU. ERSHOV, The model C of the partial continuous functionals, in Logic Colloquium 76, (R. O. Gandy and J. M. E. Hyland editors), North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1977, 455 – 467.
- [16] P. DI GIANANTONIO, Real number computability and domain theory, Information and Computation 127 (1996), 11 – 25.
- [17] A. GRZEGORCZYK, Computable functionals, Fundamenta Mathematicae 42 (1955), 168 – 202.

- [18] A. GRZEGORCZYK, On the definitions of computable real continuous functions, *Fundamenta Mathematicae* 44 (1957), 61 – 71.
- [19] G. HAMRIN, Licentiate Thesis, Uppsala University, in preparation.
- [20] A. JUNG, Cartesian closed categories of algebraic cpo's, *Theoretical Computer Science* 70 (1990), 233 250.
- [21] S. C. KLEENE, Countable functionals, in *Constructivity in Mathemat*ics, (A. Heyting editor), North-Holland, Amsterdam, 81 – 100.
- [22] G. KREISEL, Interpretation of analysis by means of constructive functionals of finite types, in *Constructivity in Mathematics*, (A. Heyting editor), North-Holland, Amsterdam, 101 – 128.
- [23] G. KREISEL, D. LACOMBE, AND J. R. SHOENFIELD, Partial recursive functionals and effective operations, in *Constructivity in Mathematics*, (A. Heyting editor), North-Holland, Amsterdam, 195 – 207.
- [24] A. H. LACHLAN AND E. W. MADISON, Computable fields and arithmetically definable ordered fields, *Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society* 24 (1970), 803 – 807.
- [25] D. LACOMBE, Extension de la notion de fonction récursive aux fonctions d'une ou plusieurs variables réelles, I, II, III. Comptes Rendus 240, 241 (1955), 2478 – 2480, 13 – 14, 151 – 155.
- [26] G. LONGO AND E. MOGGI, The hederitarily partial effective functionals and recursion theory in higher types, *Journal of Symbolic Logic* 49 (1984), 1319 – 1332.
- [27] E. W. MADISON, A note on computable real fields, Journal of Symbolic Logic 35 (1970), 239 – 241.
- [28] A. I. MAL'CEV, The Metamathematics of Algebraic Systems. Collected Papers: 1936-1967, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1971, 148 – 212.
- [29] Y. N. MOSCHOVAKIS, Recursive metric spaces, Fundamenta Mathematicae 55 (1964), 215 – 238.
- [30] D. NORMANN, A hierarchy of domains with totality but without density, in *Computability, enumerability, unsolvability*, (B. Cooper, T. Slaman and S. S. Wainer editors), Cambridge University Press, 1996, 233 – 257.
- [31] D. NORMANN, The continuous functionals of finite types over the reals, manuscript, 1998.

- [32] E. PALMGREN AND V. STOLTENBERG-HANSEN, Domain interpretations of Martin-Löf's partial type theory, Annals of Pure and Applied Logic 48 (1990), 135 – 196.
- [33] G. PLOTKIN, A poer domain construction, SIAM Journal on Computing 5 (1976), 452 – 488.
- [34] P. POTTS, Exact real arithmetic using Mobius transformations, thesis, Imperial College, 1998.
- [35] M. B. POUR-EL AND J. I. RICHARDS, Computability in Analysis and Physics, Perspectives in Mathematical Logic, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1989.
- [36] M. B. SMYTH, Power domains, Journal of Computer and Systems Sciences 16 (1978), 23 – 36.
- [37] M. B. SMYTH, The largest cartesian closed category of domains, Theoretical Computer Science 27 (1983), 109 – 119.
- [38] M. B. SMYTH, Topology, in Handbook of Logic and Computer Science, volume 1, (S. Abramsky, D. Gabbay, and T. S. E. Maibaum, editors), Oxford University Press, 1992, 641 – 761.
- [39] V. STOLTENBERG-HANSEN, I. LINDSTRÖM AND E. R. GRIFFOR, Mathematical Theory of Domains, Cambridge University Press, 1994.
- [40] V. STOLTENBERG-HANSEN AND J. V. TUCKER, Complete local rings as domains, *Journal of Symbolic Logic* 53 (1988), 603 – 624.
- [41] V. STOLTENBERG-HANSEN AND J. V. TUCKER, Algebraic equations and fixed-point equations in inverse limits, *Theoretical Computer Sci*ence 87 (1991), 1 – 24.
- [42] V. STOLTENBERG-HANSEN AND J. V. TUCKER, Infinite systems of equations over inverse limits and infinite synchronous concurrent algorithms, in *Semantics – Foundations and Applications*, Lecture Notes in Computer Science vol. 666, Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1993, 531 – 562.
- [43] V. STOLTENBERG-HANSEN AND J. V. TUCKER, Effective algebra, in Handbook of Logic in Computer Science, volume 4, (S. Abramsky, D. Gabbay, and T. S. E. Maibaum, editors), Oxford University Press, 1995, 357 – 526.
- [44] V. STOLTENBERG-HANSEN AND J. V. TUCKER, Concrete models of computation for topological algebras, *Theoretical Computer Science* 219 (1999), 347 – 378.

- [45] G. WAAGBØ, Denotational semantics for intuitionistic type theory using a hierarchy of domains with totality, Archive for Mathematical Logic 38 (1999), 19-60.
- [46] K. WEIHRAUCH AND U. SCHREIBER Embedding metric spaces into cpo's, *Theoretical Computer Science* 16 (1981), 5 24.